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5 October 2007  

Contact: Michael Ross 
Email: kwright@cylc.org.au 

32 Florence Street
PO Box 2496

Cairns  Qld  4870
Phone (07) 4053 9222

Fax (07) 4051 0097
 
 
The Hon Mal Brough MP  
Minister for Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs and 
Minister Assisting the Prime Minister for Indigenous Affairs 
Parliament House 
CANBERRA  ACT  2600 
 
 
Dear Minister, 
 
It is with pleasure that I present you with the Annual Report of the Cape York Land Council 
Aboriginal Corporation (CYLC).  This Annual Report covers the period from 1 July 2006 until 
30 June 2007. 
 
CYLC continues to strive to achieve the goals set down by the Aboriginal Elders of Cape York 
at the time of its incorporation.  We do this while adhering to the requirements of our funding 
agreement and the current legislation. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Michael Ross 
Chairperson 
Cape York Land Council  
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Chairperson’s Report 
 

Since my election to the role of Chairperson in 2005, I have witnessed 
the growth of the organisation.  From difficult times in 2005, with 
uncertainty facing the organisation, to our current position where the 
organisation demonstrates strength and performance.  This display is 
recognised by funding bodies, Government departments and traditional 
owners of the Cape. 
 
In my role, I have supported the Management and Project staff of the 
organisation by attending community meetings, negotiations with 
Government departments, and lobbying for traditional owners rights in 
Cape York. 
 

As I have said before, our land and our water systems provide the future for our people.  A future 
where we hope to be able to provide an economic base for our families and future generations, 
while still passing on the valuable cultural knowledge we have been taught.  To have this right 
used as an election pawn causes me great distress.  I worry for our children’s future, when these 
rights are bartered by Governments and other organisations in their ongoing power struggle.  
I know that Cape York is recognised for its vastness and untouched landscapes and we want our 
rights to protect this recognised.  This recognition will be achieved by ensuring that traditional 
owners are included in negotiations involving our traditional lands and waters. 
 
As Chairperson of CYLC, in the last year I have been involved in various meetings including: 
 

• PNG Gas Pipeline ILUA Authorisation Meetings in Laura, Coen, Weipa 
and Bamaga; 

• Yalanji negotiations; 
• Strathgordon negotiations; 
• Lobbying for the protection of Cape York traditional owners rights 

relating to the Wild Rivers legislation; 
• Melsonby Handover; 
• Mining issues in Weipa and Mapoon; 
• Re-recognition meetings with Hon Minister Mal Brough; and 
• Attendance at other CYLC project meetings in the communities. 

 
During Yalanji negotiations, I attended as Chairperson at various meetings with leaders of the 
Yalanji Mob.  We also engaged a neutral person to facilitate the meeting and to give the Yalanji 
people a second view regarding the ILUAs.  Yalanji negotiations involved working together and 
resulted in an achievement that will be celebrated now and benefit generations to come. 
 
CYLC Project staff have been working together with traditional owners on the Strathgordon 
Claim since 2003.  My mother was born near the Strathgordon Station and it makes me proud to 
be involved in helping the Poonko people get their traditional land back. 
 
The Strathgordon Determination can happen for other tribes throughout Cape York.  For this to 
happen, CYLC staff and traditional owners of their country have to be led with strong leadership 
empowered to make decision, sometimes hard decisions, sometimes easy. 
 

 
 

Chairperson,  
Michael Ross 
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The Governing Committee met twice this year and the Executive Committee met seven times.  
The Committees have heard about the new CATSI Act that will be introduced in July 2007.  This 
will mean a number of changes to CYLC’s Constitution and will involve community 
consultations to provide information and get feedback from our members. 
 
As my term as Chairperson of CYLC will end with the acceptance of the new Board of Directors 
at CYLC’s Annual General Meeting proposed for November 2007, I would like to thank the 
Governing Committee members for their commitment.  I would also like to thank the Aboriginal 
leadership, management and staff of CYLC who have provided support to me in my role.  I hope 
to continue this role if elected to the new Board and I look forward to playing a continued role 
with CYLC as either a Board Member or traditional owner and strong advocate of Aboriginal 
people’s rights in Cape York. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Pictured:  CYLC Chairperson, Michael Ross, speaking at the Archer Point Handover on 18 
August 2006. 
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report 
 

The past year has been one where CYLC met the targets it had set for 
the organisation and celebrated a major native title achievement on 
Eastern Cape York. 
 
Until September 2006, CYLC continued to operate under the 
management of a FaCSIA appointed Funding Controller.  Due to 
improved fiscal responsibility, managerial practices and reporting 
performance FaCSIA supported these changes with the removal of the 
Funding Controller on 6 September 2006. 
 
New reporting guidelines have been put in place by CYLC’s Senior 
Management which allow better project funding allocation and 
monitoring of expenses. 

 
In March 2007, the organisations Executive Committee and staff participated in training as part 
of the Aurora Project.  The training included information about the roles of NTRB staff and the 
expectations placed on them.  The Aurora Project also conducted training specifically for CEOs, 
Legal Officers and Field Staff which was very well received by participants. 
 
Along with other NTRBs, I have been involved in the CEO training that has been offered to all 
CEOs.  This training provides support to CEOs in managing NTRBs under the direction of the 
Executive Committee and assists them to understand their role in the NTRB, while supporting 
staff. 
 
In April 2007, after 13 years of negotiations, the most significant and complex set of ILUAs in 
the history of Queensland native title were finalised.  For the Yalanji traditional owners, these 
Agreements pave the way for a determination of native title and a comprehensive settlement of 
land ownership, use and management issues for a significant part of Eastern Kuku Yalanji 
country. 
 
CYLC has commenced its work in the preservation of records.  This project has involved the 
scanning of all paper files to an electronic version which will be available for daily use as well as 
a back-up copy stored off-site to ensure the safekeeping of this information.  We anticipate this 
project will continue for a period of 12 months. 
 
We have also commenced the extensive process of cataloguing all CYLC photographic, video 
and other media material that has been stored on various sources for the past 14 years.  We have 
completed the photographic record cataloguing.  These records are a lifeline to the organisation 
with pictures dating from the symbolic raising of the Aboriginal Flag in Lockhart River in 1990 
at CYLC’s inception, through its many “on country” meetings, Summits and key personnel who 
have played a part in the organisation’s history.  This material has been installed on the network 
with all material catalogued and protected for future use. 
 
Earlier this year the Executive Committee resolved to adopt an amended organisational structure.  
The amended structure consists of five semi-autonomous teams that work under the direction of 
the PLO in the NTU.  These are the Future Acts Unit, Strategic Outcomes Unit, State Land 
Dealings Unit, Claims Unit and Yalanji Unit.  The five Units were developed after consideration 
of CYLC priorities and current workloads.  The restructure has led to greater specialisation and 

 

 
 
Chief Executive Officer 

Peter Callaghan 
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more effective performance of CYLC’s NTRB core functions.  Each of the five Units has a 
Team Leader who works with the other Team Leaders and the PLO to ensure achievements of 
NTU goals. 
 
As a result of community members’ wishes to have more information on CYLC activities and 
up-to-date information on land issues, CYLC commenced its quarterly Newsletter in January 
2007 with a second publication in June 2007.  The Newsletter generated positive feedback and 
further copies were produced to meet the demand.  The Newsletter has been a means for CYLC 
to give community members information on National Parks, the CATSI Act and subsequent 
Constitutional changes, Cape York Peninsula Heritage Bill and our native title achievements.  
There were also Newsletters published by CYLC for the PNG Gas Pipeline and Yalanji matters. 
 
The CYLC website has been unusable for several years, but has been under construction for the 
past six months and we are very excited about its launch and the information that we will be able 
to provide.  Community members will be able to use this as a tool to get up-to-date information 
on native title applications, CYLC achievements, current meeting schedules as well as the 
history and vision of CYLC. 
 
During the year, CYLC had to go through the process of re-recognition.  We were looking at a 
period of only one year re-recognition as a NTRB, based on having had a Funding Controller 
until September 2006, but, due to our good performance, we achieved a three year re-recognition 
period as a NTRB. 
 
A lot of our resources have been taken up this year with fighting the Wild Rivers proposal.  
Throughout Cape York, creeks and river systems that represent the future of native titleholders 
are being used as a political tool between the Government and the Wilderness Society with little 
consultation or consideration of the wishes of the Aboriginal people of the Cape.  CYLC and the 
Aboriginal leaders of Cape York have voiced their concerns to Government.  The result in the 
Government’s proposals is a huge drain on our resources that should be aimed at getting land 
back to traditional owners, not fighting for their rights in the future.  CYLC will continue to use 
our resources to protect the rights of Aboriginal people in the Cape to their land and waters. 
 
Finally, I would like to thank all those who have come on this journey with CYLC and their 
efforts in making CYLC a strong regional organisation and a strong NTRB.  I would like to 
thank Balkanu, Cape York Institute and Cape York Partnerships and their leaders, Noel and 
Gerhardt Pearson, for the support and co-operation in regional organisations working together to 
achieve for the traditional owners of Cape York.  I would like to thank all the CYLC members, 
Executive Committee, Governing Committee and staff for their support and efforts over the past 
year.  Finally, I thank Michael Ross (Chairperson) for his support to the staff and myself during 
the year. 
 
CYLC Achievements 
 
Achievements during the 2006/2007 financial year was, in large part, due to improved 
management practices and the increase in the number of professional staff.  The following are a 
list of achievements that CYLC has been involved in: 
 
PNG Gas Pipeline ILUA:  The ILUA (permitting construction of the pipeline) was authorised 
and the Commercial Process Agreement (regulating dealings with the ILUA) was approved at 
meetings in Laura, Coen, Weipa and Injinoo in September 2006 and signings completed 
following numerous follow-up meetings; 
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Aurukun Bauxite Project (Feasibility Study) Participation Agreement:  Philip Hunter of 
Ebsworth & Ebsworth Lawyers undertook significant work in relation to the Aurukun Bauxite 
Project; 
 
Archer Point ILUA:  On 18 August 2006, the Archer Point ILUA was entered into with the State 
of Queensland and the Agreement was registered on 5 July 2007; 
 
Melsonby ILUA:  On 16 November 2006, the Melsonby and the State of Queensland ILUA was 
entered into with the State of Queensland and the Agreement was registered on 5 July 2007; 
 
Eastern Kuku Yalanji Agreements Celebrations:  After 13 years of negotiations and the long, 
hard struggle for land, the Eastern Kuku Yalanji people signed 15 ILUAs; 
 
Erubam Le (Darnley Islanders) #7:  The Wuthathi people of Shelburne Bay, the Torres Strait 
Islander native title claimants and the State of Queensland executed an ILUA in February 2007; 
and 
 
Submissions for the Cape York Peninsula Heritage Bill. 
 
More details are contained in the Native Title Unit Performance Report below. 
 
CYLC Financial Performance 
 
During the 2006/2007 financial year the following points highlight CYLC financial performance: 
 

• In September 2006, FaCSIA removed the Funding Controller from CYLC 
confirming that CYLC was able to manage its own financial affairs. 

 
• CYLC regained its Public Benevolent Institution status retrospective to 

July 2005 resulting in CYLC receiving a reimbursement of $186,381 of 
Fringe Benefits Tax. 

 
• CYLC was able to obtain additional funding to enable the purchase and 

payout for motor vehicles and computer leases therefore owning all assets 
with no future finance lease commitments at year end. 

 
• CYLC received an unqualified audit. 

 
• CYLC did not receive an audit comment as to “Inherent uncertainty 

regarding continuation as a going concern” which reflects well on the 
improved financial situation at CYLC. 

 
• CYLC reduced the shortfall in funds available to meet current liabilities 

from $429,989 in 2005/2006 to $337,995 in 2006/2007. 
 

• Once the Funding Controller was removed, CYLC was able to administer 
its own funds, thereby increasing interest earned on funds from $30,771 
in the 2005/2006 financial year to $47,602 in the 2006/2007 financial 
year. 
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Outlook for the Following Year 
 
CYLC hopes to move its operations to a larger office space with the approval of the funding 
request from FaCSIA.  With our achievements, we have seen the organisation grow in staff 
numbers over the past year and we do not have the room to support our staff. 
 
The acceptance of the CYLC Employee Collective Agreement will clearly set out the conditions 
of employees working for CYLC. 
 
With the acceptance of the amended CYLC Constitution by our members, we will see the new 
Board of Directors consisting of 17 members, who will take office later this year.  We are 
currently developing an induction document for the Board which will outline the roles and 
responsibilities of Directors.  This training along with the required Equity training, will see the 
new Board take office for two years with the knowledge required to act in these positions. 
 
In the next financial year, CYLC can look forward to at least two consent determinations with a 
further three NTDAs nearing completion.  A consent determination hearing date has been 
scheduled for 24 July 2007 for the Strathgordon NTDA.  The Yalanji Peoples NTDA is expected 
to be finalised by the end of December 2007.  The Wik #2, Wuthathi #2 and Kuuku Y’au 
NTDAs are in substantive mediation and are headed towards consent determinations in 2008.  
Progress is also being made on CYLC’s other NTDAs and these are considered in more detail in 
the Native Title Unit Performance Report. 
 
With a strong financial position and the promise of further land achievements for traditional 
owners of Cape York, CYLC looks to the next 12 months with anticipation. 
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Timeline of Significant Events During the Financial Year 
 
Some significant events occurring in the 2006/2007 financial year are listed on a timeline below. 
 
 
 

9 February 2007 
CYLC Regional  

Directions Hearing, 
Federal Court, Cairns 

July 

August 

September

October 

November 

December 

January 

February 

March 

April 

May  

June 

18 August 2006 
Archer Point Handover 

September 2006 
PNG Gas Pipeline ILUA 

16 November 2006 
Melsonby Handover 

March 2007 
Staff Development 

Training 

18 May 2007 
CYLC granted 3 year  

re-recognition 

15 April 2007 
Native Title Amendment 
Act 2007 (Cth) came into 

effect

7 June 2007 
Tabling of CYPHB 

8 September 2006 
FaCSIA Funding 

Controller Removed
September 2006 
Memorandum of 

Understanding signed - 
NQLC & CYLC 

11 April 2007 
Eastern Kuku Yalanji 
ceremonial signing in 
Wujal Wujal to mark 
signing of 15 ILUAS 

20-22 June 2007 
Laura Dance Festival 
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CYLC Overview 
 
Aboriginal people representing the communities of Cape York formed CYLC in 1990.  CYLC’s 
original Charter of Aims was set down at an inaugural Land Summit in Lockhart River in that 
year.  CYLC was incorporated under the Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976 (Cth). 
 
CYLC was first recognised as a NTRB for the Cooktown region by the Commonwealth Minister 
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Affairs in 1993.  It was re-recognised as an NTRB 
under the 1998 amendments to the Native Title Act on 15 January 2001. 
 
It is CYLC’s vision to be recognised as a key part of a network of specialist community-based 
organisations representing the interests of the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York, focusing on 
achieving timely and meaningful outcomes for constituents on land and native title matters 
within the region. 
 
To this end, the CYLC’s mission is to: 
 

“Consult with, and according to their directions, effectively represent, the Aboriginal 
peoples of Cape York to regain rights to land and sea so we can preserve our culture and 
make our own decisions to achieve a better future.” 

 
The original Charter of CYLC, resolved at the inaugural Land Summit, identified a number of 
aims including: 
 

• Providing a vehicle for self-determination for the Aboriginal peoples of 
Cape York; 

• Providing a representative voice for Aboriginal peoples of Cape York in 
relation to land issues; 

• Respecting and recognising land rights and responsibilities of traditional 
owners of land in Cape York; 

• Respecting the culture of the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York Peninsula; 
• Transparency and accountability to Government and traditional owners 

and partners; and 
• Providing opportunities to Cape York people to acquire management 

skills appropriate to their communities’ needs. 
 
Role and Functions 
 
As a NTRB under the Native Title Act, CYLC undertakes a range of statutory functions in 
connection with native title.  The statutory functions of CYLC are set out at s203B in Part 11, 
Division 3 of the Native Title Act: 
 

• Facilitation and assistance functions (s203BB); 
• Certification functions (s203BE); 
• Dispute resolution functions (s203BF); 
• Notification functions (s203BG); 
• Agreement-making functions (s203BH); 
• Internal review functions (s203BI); and 
• Other functions (s203BJ and s203AI). 
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Several general requirements exist in relation to the performance of these functions.  Except in 
certain circumstances, the NTRB must perform its statutory functions personally (s203B(3)).  A 
NTRB must use its best efforts to perform its functions in a timely manner, having particular 
regard to statutory timeframes (s203BA(1)).  Finally, a NTRB must perform its functions in a 
manner that maintains organisational structures and administrative processes which promote 
satisfactory representation of native titleholders and effective consultation with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islanders within their region (s203BA(2)(a), (b)).  These structures and processes 
must also operate in a fair manner (s203BA(2)(c)).  The organisational structure of CYLC is 
represented at Figures 1, 2 and 3. 
 
Irrespective of any prioritisation of functions or allocation of resources that an NTRB may be 
required to determine, their ultimate priority must be the protection of native titleholders’ 
interests (s203B(4)). 
 
 
 

 
 
Pictured:  Boulders at Lockhart River. 
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NTRB Boundary 
 
The map below shows CYLC’s NTRB Boundary Area and CYLC’s current NTDAs.  The map 
was provided by the NNTT. 
 

 
 

Figure 5 – CYLC NTRB Boundary Area Map provided by NNTT. 
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Corporate Governance Policies 
 
During the 2006/2007 financial year CYLC was guided by a Governing Committee consisting of 
34 persons (two representatives from each of the 17 communities CYLC represents) who 
manage and control the affairs of CYLC in accordance with the Rules of Incorporation.  The 
Executive Committee is made up of eight members of the Governing Committee, as well as the 
Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson.  The Executive Committee carries out its functions as a 
delegate of the Governing Committee.  The Executive Committee meets on a regular basis and 
guides the policies and direction of CYLC.  At these meetings, the Committees accept reports 
from the CEO, PLO, CFO and Human Resource Officer.  They make decisions on the activities 
of CYLC after consideration of these reports and other advice provided by the management 
team.  The Corporate Governance Practices of CYLC are discussed in more detail later in this 
Report. 
 
On 1 July 2007, the CATSI Act was introduced.  All organisations incorporated under the 
Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976 (Cth) are required to amend their Constitutions 
in accordance with the new CATSI Act.  Although organisations have until 30 June 2009 to make 
any changes so they comply with the new Act, CYLC formed the view that as 2007 is an election 
year for the organisation, where a new Board would be accepted for two years, it would suit the 
organisation (and it is the direction that CYLC wanted to take) to consult its members to discuss 
the proposed changes.   
 
Therefore, at the end of June 2007, CYLC staff began drafting a new Constitution that would 
comply with the CATSI Act.  CYLC staff then commenced community consultations with its 
members by holding community meetings and sending information packs to its membership.  A 
Special General Meeting will take place on 9 August 2007 and its outcome will decide the future 
direction of CYLC. 
 
Set out below are two tables, the first listing the Executive Committee Members and the second 
listing the Governing Committee Members who were confirmed on 30 November 2005. 
 
Executive Committee Members 
 
 
Name Position on the Board Community 
Michael Ross Chairperson Cooktown 
Edna Mark Deputy Chairperson New Mapoon 
William Busch Executive Committee Member Mapoon 
Toby Accoom Executive Committee Member Lockhart River 
Jeffrey Bosuen Executive Committee Member Kaiwalagal 
Fred Coleman Executive Committee Member Laura 
Graham Woibo Executive Committee Member Hopevale 
Doreen Jones Executive Committee Member Wujal Wujal 
Donna Henning Executive Committee Member Mossman 
Priscilla Blanco Executive Committee Member Napranum 
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Governing Committee Members 
 
 
Community Representatives Alternates/Reserves 
Aurukun Alison Woolla 

Lyle Kawangka 
Jonathan Korkoktain 
Lionel Ngakyunkwokka 

Coen 
 

Trish Claremont 
James Claremont 

No reserves as no other 
reps were nominated 

Cooktown Michael Ross 
Ron Harrigan 

Warren Kulka 
Erica Deeral 

Hopevale Gerhardt Pearson 
Graham Woibo 

Tim McGreen 
Phillip Dick 

Kaiwalagal Jeffrey Bosuen 
Tom Bowie 

Geiza Wigness 
Kema Aitken 

Injinoo Meun Lifu 
Marcia Ropeyarn 

Danny Salee 
Sandra Woosup 

Kowanyama Priscilla Major 
Judith Brumby 

Arthur Luke 
Colin Lawrence 

Laura Thomas George Jnr 
Fred Coleman 

Aileen Gale 
Marie Henry 

Lockhart River Toby Accoom 
Mengui (Coco) Nomoa 

Greta Accoom 
Norman Bally 

Mapoon William Busch 
Neomi Roseblade 

Linda McLachlan 
David Grego 

Mossman Karen Gibson 
Donna Henning 

Cecelia Barry 
Jason Port 

Napranum Priscilla Blanco 
Annie Bandicootcha 

Sarina Adams 
Priscilla Billy 

New Mapoon Edna Mark 
Ruth Motlop 

Geraldine York 

Pormpuraaw Robert Holroyd 
Fred Tyroe 

Jackson Shortjoe 
Alfred Charles 

Port Stewart 
 

Sunlight Bassini 
Chantel Liddy 

No reserves as no other 
reps were nominated 

Umagico No representatives No representatives 
Wujal Wujal Doreen Jones 

Elizabeth Tayley 
Veronica Friday 
Eileen Walker 
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Below is a photograph taken of Executive Committee Members and CYLC Staff at the Mercure 
Hotel Habourside Cairns, in June 2006. 
 

 
 
Below is a photograph taken of some members of CYLC’s Executive Committee, on 4 May 
2007. 
 

 
 
Pictured:  Left to right: William Busch, Executive Committee Member; Priscilla Blanco, 
Executive Committee Member; Edna Mark, Executive Committee Member and Deputy 
Chairperson; Toby Accoom, Executive Committee Member; and Danny Salee, Governing 
Committee Member. 
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Organisational Structure 
 
The organisation structure for the latter half of 2006 (ie. before February 2007) was as follows: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 1 – CYLC Organisational Structure. 

Governing Committee 

Executive Section 
 

HR and Training Officer 
Executive Assistant (P/T) 

Personal Assistant 

Native Title Unit 
 
Snr Legal Officer x 2 
Snr Legal Officer (P/T) 
Legal Officers x 4 
Legal Officer (P/T) 
Legal Research Officer 
Anthropologist 
Policy Officer x 2 
Librarian 
Mining Coordinator 
Project Manager 
Capacity Development 
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In February 2007, a proposal to arrange the NTU of CYLC into five semi-autonomous Units was 
put to the Executive Committee.  Hence, the NTU would consist of five semi-autonomous Units 
– Future Acts Unit, Strategic Outcomes Unit, Claims Unit, State Land Dealings Unit and Yalanji 
Unit.  This proposal was later endorsed by the Executive Committee resulting in a restructure at 
CYLC as indicated by the chart below. 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 2 – CYLC Organisational Structure. 
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Insert of the Principal Legal Officer section of the organisational structure. 
 
 

 
 
Figure 3 – CYLC NTU Organisational Structure. 
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Overview of the Five Units 
 
CYLC undertakes a variety of activities.  Many activities will not be completed within a single 
reporting period due to the nature of the activity and CYLC’s dynamic operating environment. 
However, it can be demonstrated that CYLC made significant progress in achieving outcomes 
during the 2006/2007 financial year in accordance with its strategic and operational plans.  The 
following is an overview of the function that each Unit carries out within the NTU: 
 
Claims Unit:  The Claims Unit focuses on CYLC’s functions as set out in Part 11, Division 3 of 
the Native Title Act.  This work includes two core and related functions.  Firstly, the making of 
new native title applications and the provision of advice and assistance for Applicants and native 
title claim groups to deal with matters arising in relation to the twenty-nine current applications 
in CYLC’s NTRB Area.   Secondly, the negotiation of ILUAs on behalf of native title claim 
groups in CYLC’s NTRB area. 
 
Future Acts Unit:  The Future Acts Unit deals with notifications received from State and Federal 
Governments and other authorities which propose to grant permits, licences or other rights to 
people which may have an impact on native title rights.  Dependent upon the type of right the 
authority is seeking to grant, Aboriginal people have a right to be notified, or to comment, or to 
be consulted, or to negotiate in relation to the grant of that proposed right by the relevant 
authority.  The Future Acts Unit receives these notifications and distributes them with an 
explanatory letter to affected traditional owner groups so they can take the action necessary to 
protect their native title rights, either directly with the relevant authority or through CYLC.  
These functions include, in particular, the administration of the Future Act regime which is 
applicable to the grant of mineral exploration permits and other mining tenements.   
 
State Land Dealings Unit:  The State Land Dealings Unit is responsible for the State Land 
Dealings Project.  The Project is a Queensland Government funded project involving the 
resolution of tenure on State-owned land on Cape York Peninsula.  The Project is funded 
through Balkanu which works in partnership with CYLC to facilitate negotiations between 
native titleholders and the Queensland Government.   CYLC’s State Land Dealings Unit 
provides legal and policy advice and assists with negotiating agreements. 
 
Strategic Outcomes Unit:  The Strategic Outcomes Unit’s work includes coordinating CYLC 
engagement in legislative and procedural reforms affecting native title rights; contributing to 
ongoing capacity development of the NTU and, when requested, providing assistance on specific 
matters causing delays in progress; developing research projects and secure funding and 
contributing to the development of effective relationships with CYLC’s clients, stakeholders and 
partners. 
 
Yalanji Unit:  The Yalanji Unit has negotiated and managed the Eastern Kuku Yalanji people’s 
NTDA and ILUA package since the Yalanji people lodged their native title claim with the 
Federal Court in 1994.  The Yalanji Unit is currently assisting the Eastern Kuku Yalanji people 
to set up land-holding entities to hold and manage their land.  The Yalanji Unit will provide 
initial support to Eastern Kuku Yalanji people to assist with the implementation of the native title 
and land use package.  
 
Further details of the Units within the NTU are found in the Native Title Unit Performance 
Report below. 
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Strategic and Operational Plans 
 
In the 2006/2007 financial year, CYLC operated under its Strategic Plan for 2004-2007.  
CYLC’s mission is the return of land in Cape York to traditional owners.  CYLC has worked 
within its strategic plan framework to achieve that end.  Key elements underpinning the strategic 
plan are represented in the operational plan. 
 
For example: 
 

• Engaging in substantive negotiation wherever possible; 
• Keeping claimants and other traditional owners informed; 
• Constant review of claims to identify progress; 
• Supporting claims with comprehensive research; 
• Facilitating self-determination by providing adequate and appropriate 

information; 
• Maintaining a Future Acts Register; 
• Actively maintaining links with communities throughout the Cape; and 
• Providing responsible and accountable governance. 

 
 

 
 
Pictured:  Dancer at Eastern Kuku Yalanji Agreements celebrations.
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Native Title Unit Performance Report 
 
CYLC’s NTU has made significant progress in achieving its goals during the 2006/2007 
financial year in accordance with its strategic and operational plans. 
 
Provided below is a summary of progress and outcomes made by each of the five NTU during 
the 2006/2007 financial year.   
 
Claims Unit 
 
CYLC’s current NTRB Boundary Area is outlined on the map above.  A written outline of the 
status of CYLC’s NTDAs are as follows: 
 
Angkamuthi People #2 (QUD 6008/02) 
 
The Angkamuthi People #2 NTDA was lodged in 2002 and is currently unregistered with the 
NNTT.  CYLC’s consultant anthropologist continued research into connection issues during the 
latter half of 2006.  This research has been supplemented by the significant amount of work 
undertaken in relation to the proposed PNG Gas Pipeline Project.  Based on this research, 
consultations and mediation meetings will take place with traditional owners during the 
2007/2008 financial year to address connection and overlapping claim issues. 
 
Ankamuthi People #1 (QUD 6158/98) 
 
The Ankamuthi People #1 NTDA was lodged in 1999 and was entered on the NNTT Register of 
Claims on 21 September 1999.  CYLC does not act for the Applicant in this matter but seeks to 
resolve indigenous issues in its capacity as a NTRB.  CYLC acts for Respondents in the claim 
and anthropological research being prepared by CYLC in relation to Angkamuthi  People #2 will 
assist in the mediation of connection issues for these overlapping claims. 
 
Dingaal (QUD6004/98) 
 
The Dingaal  NTDA was lodged in 1994 and is currently unregistered with the NNTT.  CYLC 
held meetings at Hopevale in late 2006 addressing connection and respondent party issues.  As 
part of this process, CYLC engaged the services of a consultant anthropologist to provide 
connection advice and assistance.  These consultations are ongoing and the NNTT is assisting 
with mediation.  An authorisation meeting to amend the claim is scheduled for late 2007. 
 
Juunyjuwarra People (QUD6014/99) 
 
The Juunyjuwarra People NTDA was lodged in 1999 and was entered on the NNTT Register of 
Claims on 19 April 1999.  A connection report was provided to the State in June 2007.  The State 
advised that a response on the connection material should be expected in late 2007.  It is 
anticipated that NNTT mediation between the Applicant and the State will commence from early 
2008. 
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Kaanju / Umpila People (QUD6236/98) and Kaanju Umpila Lamalama and Ayapathu 
People #2 (QUD6117/98) 
 
It is proposed  that these existing claims be withdrawn and a new single native title claim be 
lodged on behalf of the two claimant groups within the 2007/2008 financial year.  Consultant 
anthropologists were engaged and preliminary material has been provided.  In June 2007, 
preparation also commenced for a preservation of evidence hearing on country to be held before 
Justice Greenwood in July 2007. 
 
Kalpowar Holdings (QUD6155/98) 
 
The Kalpowar Holdings NTDA was lodged in 1997 and was entered on the NNTT Register of 
Claims on 31 August 2000.  The claim was amended during 2006 following a tenure resolution 
outcome being negotiated by the native titleholders.  CYLC then engaged a consultant 
anthropologist to conduct research required for the connection report. 
 
Kuuku Ya’u People #1 (QUD6016/98) 
 
The Kuuku Ya’u People  #1 NTDA was lodged in 1999 and was entered on the NNTT Register 
of Claims on 15 May 2003. Substantive mediation with all respondent parties for the purpose of 
reaching a consent determination progressed significantly as a result of several mediation 
meetings conducted by the NNTT throughout the year.  An inspection of Portland Roads and 
Chilli Beach within the claim area was conducted with all respondent parties present in June 
2006 and a two day inspection of the islands was held in November 2006.  A number of 
longstanding complex tenure issues have been resolved with the State.  Discussions on the extent 
of the territorial sea and the maritime boundary of the claim area were continued and are 
currently unresolved.  
 
Mapoon People (QUD6010/02) 
 
The Mapoon People NTDA was lodged in 2002 and was entered on the NNTT Register of 
Claims on 15 March 2004.  Two consultant anthropologists have been engaged to prepare a 
connection report.  Whilst anthropological fieldwork has been carried out and some progress 
made, the continuing ill health of one of the consultant anthropologists has caused a delay in the 
provision of draft connection material.  Claim group meetings were held in late 2006 at Old 
Mapoon and Napranum with the consultant anthropologists to discuss connection and related 
claim issues.  Based on anthropological advice, consultations and mediation meetings will take 
place with traditional owners during the 2007/2008 financial year to address connection and 
overlapping claim issues. 
 
Northern Kaanju People and Yianh People  (QUD6152/98) 
 
The Northern Kaanju and Yianh People NTDA was lodged in 1997 and was entered on the 
NNTT Register of Claims on 16 October 1997.  Two consultant anthropologists are preparing a 
connection report and throughout the year presented draft connection material to the claim group 
on two occasions.  Based on research to date amendments to the NTDA are required.  Substantial 
progress has been made in discussing and resolving connection issues.  A meeting is scheduled 
in Coen during late August 2007 to assist the consultants to progress any outstanding issues.  
Required amendments to the application will also be considered and progressed and 
authorisation meetings scheduled. 
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Olkola NTDAs (Ayaputhu & Olkola (QUD6012/03), Olkola Fairlight (QUD6010/03), 
Olkola People (QUD6008/03), Olkola People #2 (QUD1/05), Olkola Thaypan (QUD6009/03) 
and Olkola / Strathleven / King Junction (QUD6013/03)) 
 
The above NTDAs were lodged in response to Future Act Notices pursuant to s29 of the Native 
Title Act.  The NTDAs have remained in place following those initial notices in an attempt to 
preserve the right to negotiate with the future act proponents.  Since initial lodgement, a number 
of new future acts have been proposed within the claim areas and CYLC has continued to engage 
with each proponent.  The native title claim groups met during this financial year to consider the 
future progress of these applications.  Instructions to progress the applications as NTDAs 
towards a determination of native title before the Federal Court have been provided.  Possible 
amalgamations of the six NTDAs will be discussed and legal work resulting from these decisions 
will commence late in 2007 and research towards a draft connection material will also be 
progressed during the 2007/2008 financial year. 
 
Strathgordon (QUD6005/03) 
 
The Strathgordon NTDA was lodged in 2003 and was entered on the NNTT Register of Claims 
on 31 July 2003.  There was significant engagement with the traditional owners during the year, 
culminating in a meeting held at Pormpuraaw in December 2006 authorising the draft consent 
determination and the formation of a PBC named Thaa-Nguigaar Strathgordon Aboriginal 
Corporation.  The NNTT facilitated substantive mediation with the respondent parties during the 
year.  In April 2007, “in principle” agreement was reached with the parties as to the substantive 
issues in the consent determination and the terms of two ILUAs.  In June 2007, relevant 
documentation was filed with the Federal Court for the consent determination hearing.   
 
Walmbaar Aboriginal Corporation Compensation Claim (QUD649/06) 
 
Drakopoulos Black Solicitors, on behalf of the Walmbaar Aboriginal Corporation, filed this 
claim seeking compensation in relation to the Cape Flattery area early in 2007.  CYLC received 
instructions from a number of traditional owners to apply to join the proceedings as respondent 
parties.  This matter has now entered mediation at the direction of the Federal Court. 
 
Weipa Peninsula People (QUD6009/02) 
 
The Weipa Peninsula People NTDA was lodged in 2002 and was entered on the NNTT Register 
of Claims on 22 April 2004.  A consultant anthropologist has been engaged to prepare a 
connection report however progress has been delayed due to his ill health.  In August 2006 at 
Napranum, the claim group met to discuss the draft connection material and associated issues.  A 
draft connection report is scheduled to be presented to the claim group in the next financial year 
and, when finalised, will be provided to the State for their assessment. 
 
Western Yalanji#7 (QUD3/05) 
 
CYLC  is on the Federal Court record as the Applicant’s legal representative.  During the 
financial year discussions between CYLC and NQLC resulted in the execution of a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the two NTRBs.  The MOU provides for the 
continued management of this application and a number of other applications which cover areas 
within both the CYLC and NQLC NTRB regions.  NQLC have proposed that this NTDA 
(wholly within the CYLC NTRB region) will be combined with the Western Yalanji #4 NTDA 
(which is partially within both the CYLC and NQLC NTRB regions and presently managed by 
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NQLC).  The combined applications will become the Western Yalanji #4 (combined NTDA).  It 
has been agreed that NQLC will then take formal carriage of this application. 
 
Western Yalanji #4 (QUD6008/99) 
 
This NTDA covers areas within both the CYLC and NQLC NTRB regions and it is progressing 
in NNTT mediation.  NQLC represents the Applicant in these proceedings.  CYLC is a 
Respondent party to the proceedings and represents the Olkola people who hold native title 
rights and interests in the claim area.  Discussions took place involving members of the Western 
Yalanji and Olkola people traditional owners during the year with further discussions expected to 
continue into the next financial year. 
 
Wik and Wik Way People #1 and #2 
 
Mediation has been ongoing for the Wik and Wik Way peoples two NTDAs, following the 
making of the consent determinations in October 2004.  The focus of the mediation has been on 
the Wik and Wik Way Peoples NTDA over Rio Tinto Aluminium's bauxite mining leases to the 
south of the Embley River.  Negotiations are now significantly advanced on the terms of a 
consent determination of native title for those areas and it is hoped that there will be a further 
consent determination made in the next financial year.  CYLC has also assisted the Wik and Wik 
Way peoples and their PBC, Ngan Aak Kunch Aboriginal Corporation, respond to an increasing 
level of future act activity in the Wik region, particularly with applications for exploration 
permits, with a number of exploration agreements negotiated with mining companies during this 
financial year. 
 
Aurukun Bauxite Project (Feasibility Study) Participation Agreement QI2007/010 
 
During the financial year, significant work was undertaken in relation to the Aurukun Bauxite 
Project, which was being progressed as part of a competitive bid process managed by the 
Queensland Government in cooperation with the Wik and Wik Way native titleholders, on 
whose traditional lands the bauxite resource is located, and Aurukun Shire Council, the Lessee of 
the land.  The Aurukun Bauxite Project involves the development of the Aurukun bauxite 
resource and associated mine and port infrastructure and the construction and operation of a 
Queensland east coast alumina refinery.  Provisional proposals were submitted for the rights to 
the project in January 2006, with final proposals lodged in June 2006.  In September 2006, the 
State announced that the Aluminium Corporation of China Limited (Chalco) was the preferred 
Developer for the Project and negotiations then proceeded over many months with the Wik and 
Wik Way native titleholders, Aurukun Shire Council, Queensland Government and Chalco as to 
the ILUA that would be required for the grant of a Mineral Development Licence ("MDL") to 
Chalco and the conduct of a feasibility study for the Project.  All of the major negotiation 
meetings for the Project were conducted in Aurukun. 
 
The Aurukun Bauxite Project (Feasibility Study) Agreement (Agreement) was signed by all 
parties in Aurukun on 25 May 2007 and the Agreement provides a range of outcomes for Wik 
and Wik Way native titleholders and the Aurukun community to enable them to actively 
participate in the feasibility study and prepare themselves for the significant opportunities that 
will be able to be pursued during the construction and mining stages of the Project, should it 
proceed, including a process for negotiating agreements for these later stages.  As part of the 
Agreement, Chalco has contributed in excess of $2 million towards a sustainable development 
plan for the Aurukun community for the feasibility study and will construct a bauxite project 
office and accommodation facility in Aurukun which will employ Wik and Wik Way people and 
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provide a platform to build a good working relationship with Chalco.  The Queensland 
Government has also agreed to contribute $3 million during the two year feasibility study to 
provide infrastructure and assist with the delivery of services to Aurukun to enable Wik and Wik 
Way people to participate fully in the feasibility study and later stages of the Project.  The 
Agreement was registered on the Register of ILUAs on 6 August 2007 and the MDL was granted 
to Chalco on 10 September 2007. 
 
Wuthathi, Kuuku Ya’u and Northern Kaanju (QUD6023/02) 
 
The Wuthathi, Kuuku Ya’u and Northern Kaanju NTDA was lodged in 2002 and was entered on 
the NNTT Register of Claims on 26 May 2003.  The State has identified a possible connection 
issue and discussions seeking to resolve this issue have been progressing. 
 
Wuthathi People #2 (QUD6022/02) 
 
The Wuthathi People #2 NTDA was lodged in 2002 and entered on the NNTT Register of 
Claims on 10 February 2003.  Throughout this year, the claimants have engaged in substantive 
mediation with all parties to the NTDA towards a consent determination of exclusive native title 
over the application area, Shelburne Bay.  It is anticipated that a consent determination of native 
title hearing will be scheduled by the Federal Court in the next financial year. 
 
Erubam Le (Darnley Islanders) #7 QUD6042/98 (QC96/27) 
 
The Wuthathi people of Shelburne Bay, with the assistance of CYLC, also engaged in 
discussions with the NTDA Applicant (Torres Strait Islander claimants) and the State of 
Queensland.  Discussions developed into a formal negotiation engagement within NNTT 
mediation.  An ILUA resulted and was executed in February 2007.  The agreement area includes 
the land areas of Raine Island, Moulter Cay and MacLennon Cay and surrounding waters 
extending to three nautical miles from the high water mark.  The Agreement provides for the 
continued involvement of Wuthathi and the Torres Strait Islander parties in the future 
management and coordination of access to the National Park (Scientific) which was created over 
the land areas with the consent of the native title parties.  This ILUA has been identified as being 
the first of its kind in Australia. 
 
Future Acts Unit 
 
As part of the NTU restructure, the Future Acts Officer and Mining Unit, which had previously 
operated separately, were combined into a Future Acts Unit consisting of a Team Leader, 
Capacity Development Officer and Future Acts Officer.  The Future Acts Unit is building cross 
qualifications within the Unit and also engaging our Area Officers in Cooktown and Weipa in 
cross qualification training and on-ground management of future acts.  The workload of the 
former Mining Unit in the second half of 2006 was dominated by the proposed PNG Gas 
Pipeline Project where Carnegie, Wylie & Co negotiated for and advised the traditional owners 
and CYLC provided extensive assistance and facilitation. 
 
PNG Gas Pipeline ILUA  QI2006/043 
 
The ILUA (permitting construction of the pipeline) was authorised and the Commercial Process 
Agreement (regulating dealings with the ILUA) was approved at meetings in Laura, Coen, 
Weipa and Injinoo in September 2006 and signings completed following numerous follow-up 
meetings.  The ILUA is pending registration with NNTT.  Whilst further developments are likely 
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when the current PNG elections are completed, the project remains “mothballed” but registration 
of the ILUA will place affected traditional owners in a very advantageous position if and when 
the project proceeds. 
 
This ILUA is an Area ILUA to which the parties are Cape York Pipeline Company Pty Ltd 
(CYPC), Olkola/Kunjen peoples, Thaypan peoples, Ayapathu peoples, Kaanju (South) peoples, 
Kaanju (North) peoples, Yinwum/Yianh peoples, Thanakwithi peoples, Yupungathi peoples, 
Atambaya peoples, Ankamuthi(Angkamuthi) peoples, Yadaikana (Yadhaykenu) peoples and 
Gudang peoples, the Mapoon people and the Weipa Peninsula people.  For technical reasons, the 
ILUA has also been signed by named NTDA Applicants for the Umpila, Lamalama and Wik and 
Wik Way peoples.  The ILUA covers a corridor approximately 20 kms wide running from Cable 
Beach at the tip of Cape York southward to about the southern NTRB boundary of CYLC, 
westward from Batavia Downs to the north of Weipa and south to Weipa.  The corridor is 
approximately 10 kms each side of the proposed route of the Main Pipeline, Gove Lateral and 
Weipa Spur Pipelines. 
 
Conclusion of the ILUA (which deals with the construction and maintenance of the pipeline) and 
the related Commercial Process Agreement (CPA) (which deals with how the ILUA can be dealt 
with) was achieved over many meetings in different venues between December 2005 and 
September 2006 with the ILUA being authorised at authorisation meetings held in Laura, Coen, 
Weipa and Injinoo in September 2006 with further requisite signatures being obtained in follow-
up and private meetings.  Well over 500 representatives of the traditional owner groups have 
signed the ILUA and CPA. 
 

 
Picture depicts the PNG Gas Pipeline ILUA Authorisation Meeting at Injinoo in September 
2006. 
 
The ILUA empowers CYPC to construct a gas pipeline on the proposed Main Pipeline Gove 
Lateral and Weipa Spur Pipeline routes and allows flexibility for the proposed route to be varied 
where necessary within the 20 km corridor.  CYPC has the power to assign the ILUA to another 
pipeline proponent under the terms set out in the CPA.  The CPA provides for the appointment 
of a Pipeline Approval Committee consisting of a representative from each of the traditional 
owner groups and each of the six affected DOGIT Trustees and Land Trusts and presided over 
by the Chairperson of CYLC (who does not have a vote) and that ILUA cannot be dealt with 
other than with the approval of that Committee.  The ILUA has been lodged for registration with 
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the NNTT and is pending registration.  The ILUA will be seen as one of the most significant 
achievements in CYLC’s history because never before have so many Cape groups and 
individuals been consulted about a single project and come together in a unified way and CYLC 
continues to reap the benefits of the good will generated and anthropologist work that was 
undertaken during this time. 
 
Other Mining and Exploration Activity 
 
In the first half of 2007, attention has been concentrated on the review of the Native Title 
Protection Conditions (NTPCs) as foreshadowed in last year’s report and the development of our 
future acts database which will gradually include details of all exploration and mining tenements 
in Cape York.  The NTPC review has been very disappointing, with the Government reneging on 
its undertaking to review the mining exploration future acts process and limiting it to a technical 
review of the end result of that process - the NTPCs.  The review methodology has been 
confused and there has been a distinct lack of consultation with indigenous stakeholders. CYLC 
has appealed to Minister Craig Wallace to intervene to revise the process and allow meaningful 
consultation.  In addition, CYLC has been dealing with applications for new exploration 
tenements and the conduct of the Capacity Development Program for mining exploration. 
 
CYLC has acquired the database computer program File Maker Pro 8.5, and staff training has 
been completed.  CYLC staff are working closely with the future acts staff at Carpentaria Land 
Council to develop a common framework for the database.  Set up of the database is well 
advanced and the task of gathering and inputting data on a tenement-by-tenement basis has 
begun and will gradually extend from the most recent tenements to the oldest for which 
information is reasonably accessible.   
 
Other Future Acts Activity 
 
In an effort to focus attention on Future Act Notifications (FANs), we have begun asking 
traditional owner groups to appoint a small number of proactive Future Act Coordinators to deal 
with the FANs which impact on their group.  A number of Groups have appointed Coordinators, 
others are in that process and further Groups have yet to be approached.  The concept is based on 
the successful system of Mining Coordinators developed to deal with mineral exploration and 
relies on the Coordinators being the contact point with CYLC. 
 
The FANs database established last year has been moved to the new File Maker Pro 8.5 program 
and past data will be transferred to that program so all available data is in one place.  These 
developments have enabled us to notify an ever-increasing number of FANs to multiple 
traditional owner groups each with a plain English summary.  The number of FANs dealt with 
has increased from the monthly average 37 reported last year as follows:- 
 

2006 2007 
July 78 January 67 
August 58 February 103 
September 65 March 85 
October 37 April 71 
November 39 May 74 
December 41 June 76 
Total 318 Total 476 
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While our covering letters invite the recipients to either respond directly to the body giving 
notice or to respond through CYLC, we are considering whether the system should be altered so 
all responses are made by CYLC on behalf of the traditional owners.  More intensive attention to 
FANs has enabled us to coordinate responses to major development concerns and to establish 
working relationships with Telstra, Main Roads and other project proponents which ensure the 
recognition of and respect for indigenous rights which the FANs regime is intended to achieve. 
 
State Land Dealings Unit 
 
CYLC continued its involvement with the State Land Dealings project which is a State-funded 
project involving the resolution of tenure on a number of properties in the region through 
negotiated ILUAs.  CYLC and Balkanu facilitate the participation of native titleholders in 
negotiations with the State’s Cape York Tenure Resolution Task Force.  CYLC’s clients seek 
land under secure tenure, whilst the State seeks to protect high conservation areas by creating 
new National Parks or Conservation Agreements with native titleholders under the Nature 
Conservation Act 1992 (Qld).  Negotiations with a view to expedited resolution continued 
through the year on another nine properties.  Successful Agreements were reached during the 
financial year at Archer Point and Melsonby Station as follows: 
 

• On 18 August 2006, the Archer Point ILUA was entered into with the 
State of Queensland and the Agreement was registered on 5 July 2007; 
and 

 
• On 16 November 2006, the Melsonby and the State of Queensland ILUA 

was entered into with the State of Queensland and the Agreement was 
registered on 5 July 2007. 

 
 
 

 
 
Pictured:  Field inspection of Lilyvale Station with Balkanu and CYLC Staff, December 2006. 
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Strategic Outcomes Unit 
 
The Strategic Outcomes Unit incorporated the work of CYLC’s existing Policy Officer and the 
restructure of other positions, including the library.  The following provides a performance report 
of the Unit’s key areas: 
 
Continuing CYLC involvement in State and Commonwealth legislative and policy reform 
affecting native titleholders. 
 
This has been an extremely busy and productive year in terms of Governments initiating 
legislation and policy reform that impact on native titleholders’ rights and interests.  CYLC has 
continued to be responsive to these reforms and has made numerous submissions urging reform 
to be more workable and beneficial for native titleholders in Cape York. 
 
Submissions made in response to State or Local Government reform include: 
 

• Mineral Resources Act (Qld); 
• Fossicking Act (Qld); 
• Mineral Exploration and Queensland and the Review of the Native Title 

Protection Conditions;  
• 2007 Interim Evaluation of Hands On Parliament Recommendations; 
• Wild Rivers Code and Wild Rivers and Other Legislation Amendment 

Bill 2007 (Qld); 
• Great Artesian Basin Resource Operations Plan; 
• Vegetation Management Act 1999 (Qld) and Draft Regional Vegetation 

Management Codes; 
• Land and Other Legislation Amendment Act (Qld) 2007; 
• Draft Cook Shire Council Planning Scheme; and 
• Cape York Peninsula Heritage Bill 2007 (Qld). 

 
Submissions made in response to Commonwealth reform include: 
 

• Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Amendment Bill 2007; 
• Government Response to the Report of the Native Title Claims 

Resolution Review; 
• Native Title Amendment (Technical Amendments) Act 2007; 
• Native Title Amendment (Technical Amendments) Bill 2007; 
• Nomination of Cape York Peninsula for National Heritage Listing; 
• Out of the Blue and Walk the Talk -  Reform of Oceans Act by the 

Australian Conservation Foundation (ACF) and National Environmental 
Law Association (NELA) Policy submissions on National Sea legislative 
reform; 

• Draft FaCSIA guidelines for PBC funding assistance; 
• Review of Indigenous interests in marine habitats of the East Marine 

Planning Region-Planning Stage 1; and 
• Community Housing and Infrastructure Program Review (FaCSIA). 
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Developing CYLC resources and internal policies that build on our successes in native title 
claim management and resolution 
 
The Unit’s work has included: 
 

• Internal evaluation of the Yalanji ILUA negotiations, which spanned over 
13 years; 

• Internal review of CYLC claim case management approaches and 
resource allocation; 

• Internal policy and project development regarding PBC governance 
issues; 

• Internal review of Early Evidence and Preservation of Evidence 
approaches; 

• Development of a CYLC Geospatial Mapping capacity; and 
• Developing native titleholders’ understanding of their roles and 

responsibilities both in native title claim processes and post 
determination. 

 
Working within the Claims Unit on high and medium priority claims 
 
The Strategic Outcomes Unit assisted on specific claims as well as further developed 
relationships with key stakeholders including the State of Queensland.  Further detail can be 
found in the Claims Unit above. 
 
Maintaining and expanding CYLC’s library collection 
 
The CYLC Library has over 2000 books, videos and vertical file items; 194 serial, journal, 
newspaper and legal loose-leaf titles and over 500 maps.  CYLC’s Librarian is responsible for all 
ordering, cataloguing and collection maintenance.  A media monitoring service is also provided 
as well as access to collections other libraries throughout Australia.  The CYLC Library 
continues to provide an information and research service to all staff of CYLC, indigenous people 
of Cape York, external researchers and consultants. 
 

 
 
Pictured:  One of the many watercourses in Cape York Peninsula for which traditional owners 
continue to care. 
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Yalanji Unit 
 

 
 
Pictured:  Left to Right:  Chairperson Michael Ross and Hazel Douglas at the Eastern Kuku 
Yalanji Agreements celebrations. 
 
The Yalanji People’s NTDA was lodged in 1994 and was entered on the NNTT Register of 
Claims on 4 May 2005.  After 13 years of negotiations and the long, hard struggle for land, the 
Eastern Kuku Yalanji people signed 15 ILUAs with the State and other parties, covering 
approximately 230,000 hectares of their traditional lands.  The ILUAs were negotiated and 
entered into as a result of mediation of the Eastern Kuku Yalanji People’s NTDA that was 
lodged in 1994.  The ILUAs resolve land ownership, use and management for the whole area 
including areas to be held as Aboriginal freehold, management of national parks, additional 
leases, freehold and reserves where Yalanji people will participate and secure recognition for 
their native title rights and interests. 
 
The ILUAs were approved by the Eastern Kuku Yalanji people at an authorisation meeting that 
was held in November 2006 and the majority of negotiation issues with the respondent parties 
were resolved by December 2006.  The Queensland Cabinet approved the ILUAs and native title 
package in December 2006 and by March 2007, the ILUAs were executed by all parties.  In 
April 2007, a ceremonial signing of the ILUAs was held at Wujal Wujal and attended by Premier 
Beattie and Ministers and received nationwide media coverage.  The Queensland Minister for 
Natural Resources has stated in a letter to CYLC that the “Eastern Kuku Yalanji Agreement will 
be the most significant in Queensland and one of the most significant in Australia”. 
 
The following 15 ILUAs were executed on the Yalanji Claim in the financial year: 
 

• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and WTMA (Freehold Grants) ILUA 
executed on 19 March 2007; 

• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and WTMA (National Parks) ILUA 
executed on 19 March 2007; 

• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and DSC ILUA executed on Eastern Yalanji 
and DSC ILUA executed on 6 March 2007; 

• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and CSC ILUA executed on 19 March 2007; 
• Eastern Yalanji and CSC ILUA executed on 6 March 2007; 
• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and WWASC ILUA executed on 19 March 

2007; 
• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and BAC ILUA executed on 19 March 2007; 
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• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and BMAC ILUA executed on 19 March 
2007; 

• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and Harlow ILUA executed on 19 March 
2007; 

• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and Marshall ILUA executed on 19 March 
2007;  

• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and Brandt ILUA executed on 19 March 
2007; 

• Eastern Yalanji, Queensland and McLean ILUA executed on 19 March 
2007;  

• Eastern Yalanji and Telstra ILUA executed on 6 March 2007; and 
• Eastern Yalanji and Ergon ILUA executed on 20 March 2007. 

 
Currently, the Eastern Kuku Yalanji people are working with the CYLC to set up the bodies 
required to hold and manage native title, Aboriginal freehold land, reserves and ordinary 
freehold.  It is intended that these bodies will function as a “one stop shop” for all Eastern Kuku 
Yalanji land business.  CYLC expects that the Federal Court will hand down a determination of 
native title by consent in December 2007. 
 
 

 
 
Pictured above:  (Picture courtesy of Nicolette Kormendy, NNTT):  Some of the Eastern Kuku 
Yalanji and CYLC Negotiating Team Members:  Lawyer Marita Stinton, Barrister Susan 
Phillips; Lawyer Jim Brooks, David Solomon, Peter Wallace, Andrew Solomon, Project 
Manager Jane Holden, Lawyer David Yarrow, CYLC Chairperson Michael Ross, Cedric Friday, 
Elisabeth Tayley, Eileen Walker, Doreen Ball, Hazel Douglas, Lizzie Olbar, Christine Friday, 
Delores Friday, Lawyer Cordell Scaife, Marrilyn Wallace and Christine Solomon.  
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CYLC Operating Environment 
 
Governments initiate legislation and policy reform that may impact on native titleholders’ rights 
and interests.  CYLC has continued to be responsive to these reforms and has made numerous 
submissions urging reform to be more workable and beneficial for Cape York’s native 
titleholders.  The following is an update of various legislation and reforms. 
 
National Parks (Aboriginal Land), Wild Rivers and Vegetation Management Act 1999 
 
As reported in the 2005/2006 Annual Report, not one of the National Parks successfully claimed 
under the Aboriginal Land Act 1991 (Qld) has been handed back to claimants.  Cape York native 
titleholders also hold significant concerns regarding the impact of Queensland’s Wild Rivers and 
Vegetation Management legislation on their native title rights and interests and their social and 
economic future.  CYLC continued in 2006/2007 financial year to make strong representations to 
Government and stakeholders regarding native titleholders’ concerns. 
 
CYLC is hopeful that legislation introduced into Parliament by the Queensland State 
Government in June 2007 (Cape York Peninsula Heritage Bill 2007) will go some way to 
addressing native titleholders’ concerns and deliver on the commitments made in the Cape York 
Heads Of Agreement.  If passed, the legislation will provide for the Wild Rivers legislation to be 
amended to protect native title rights and interests, for Indigenous communities to be able to 
make applications for vegetation clearing on Aboriginal land for the purposes of undertaking 
sustainable agriculture, grazing, aquaculture and animal husbandry activities and for the creation 
of a new category of National Parks called “National Park (Cape York Peninsula Aboriginal 
Land)”, for all existing and new National Parks.  This new category will provide for Aboriginal 
freehold ownership of National Park land with the land to continue to be managed as a national 
park in perpetuity but to be managed, as far as practicable, in a way that is consistent with 
Aboriginal tradition. 
 
The introduction of this Bill is a historic achievement for CYLC and the people of Cape York.  
Significant work remains for the Queensland State Government, native titleholders and 
stakeholders to successfully implement the Bill. 
 
Corporation (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2007 
 
On 1 July 2007, the CATSI Act will be introduced to replace the Aboriginal Councils and 
Associations Act 1976 (Cth) currently used to govern many Aboriginal organizations, including 
CYLC. 
 
The CATSI Act introduces a number of changes aimed to make reporting easier for Aboriginal 
Corporations.  It will also mean that CYLC must amend its Constitution in line with these 
changes.  CYLC staff drafted a proposed draft new Constitution that is in line with these 
changes. 
 
One of the major changes will be to CYLC’s Governing Committee, which will become known 
as the Board of Directors with the introduction of this Act. 
 
The CATSI Act requires the Board of Directors (formerly the Governing Committee) to be 
reduced to twelve members.  At the moment, CYLC has 34 Governing Committee members, 
made up of two members from each of the 17 communities represented on the CYLC Governing 
Committee. 



Cape York Land Council Annual Report 2006-2007 
 
 

38 
 

 
At the recent Governing Committee meeting, the Governing Committee confirmed that Cape 
York needs to maintain representation from each of the communities that we represent.  For this 
reason, we will be seeking permission from the Registrar of the Office of Registrar of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Corporations to be able to continue to have representation from each of these 
17 communities. 
 
During July 2007, all members of CYLC received an information package.  CYLC staff then 
travelled “on country” and visited communities to receive suggestions and feedback from 
traditional owners and members of CYLC.  A Special General Meeting will take place on 
9 August 2007 for members of CYLC to decide the future direction of CYLC. 
 
Native Title Amendments 
 
The Commonwealth Government made some significant amendments to the Native Title Act 
during the 2006/2007 financial year.  CYLC contributed detailed comments during each stage of 
the process during the financial year to 30 June 2007, including contributions to submissions 
lodged by the National Native Title Council (NNTC) in relation to: 
 

• The Second Discussion Paper on the “technical” amendments (in 
December 2006); 

• The Native Title Amendment Bill 2006 (in January 2007); and 
• The Native Title Amendment Bill 2007 (in April 2007). 

 
Despite strongly worded submissions and representations to the Federal Government by the 
NNTC, CYLC and others expressing concerns about some aspects of the proposed amendments, 
the amendments were passed with few substantive changes.  The final round of technical 
provisions is due to commence later in 2007. 
 
CYLC remains particularly concerned about the new arrangements imposing limited term 
recognition of NTRBs, with CYLC receiving an initial three year term.  Some other key aspects 
of the amendments that may affect CYLC include: 
 

• Simpler re-recognition and boundary change processes for NTRBs; 
• Provisions in relation to PBC, including fees for services, funding by the 

Commonwealth and default PBCs; 
• Changes to mediation processes within the Federal Court and the NNTT, 

including removal of duplication of mediation by both the Federal Court 
and NNTT, new enquiry and review powers for the NNTT and a new 
good faith requirement; 

• A range of “technical” amendments, including a new power for the 
Federal Court to make “part area” determinations, some new registration 
test requirements and related strike out provisions and review provisions 
for decisions by NTRBs not to assist claims. 
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Analysis of Performance  
 
CYLC continues to use work plans, negotiated with respondent parties, for the majority of native 
title claims lodged with the Federal Court.  Work Plans are prepared prior to each regional 
directions hearing.  They continue to be an integral part of CYLC’s operations and performance 
and remain a valuable tool in the planning, preparing and progression of claims.  It is noted that 
the Federal Court and the NNTT, following the amendments to the Native Title Act during the 
2006/2007 financial year, are moving to adopt the regional work plan approach nationally. 
 
As models are developed for high and medium priority claims, development of the plans requires 
less time and attention.  However, ensuring that the obligations contained in the plans are 
complied with, particularly by the State Government, continues to require significant effort. 
CYLC anticipates that the greater focus by the Court and the NNTT on regional planning will 
assist in that regard. 
 
Substantial completion of the Strathgordon Claim (which will proceed to a determination of 
native title during the 2007/2008 financial year) and the significant progress of the high priority 
claims of Yalanji, Wuthathi and Kuuku Ya’u (anticipated to proceed to consent determinations 
within the next financial year) benefited from the commitment of CYLC, the State and other 
relevant third party respondents to progressing these matters.  However, as noted in the 
2005/2006 Annual Report, CYLC remains concerned with timeframes, particularly the length of 
time taken by the State for assessment of connection reports which form the basis of the 
mediation process between the parties.  CYLC will continue to work with all parties and, where 
necessary, seek intervention from the Federal Court and the NNTT in seeking to ensure that 
claims progress to completion in a timely fashion. 
 
Service Standards & Complaints Data 
 
During the 2006/2007 financial year, various policies were put into practice leading to a smooth 
and efficiently run organization.  Regular staff reviews are held to measure performance of staff 
against Position Descriptions and CYLC goals.  CYLC has also undertaken regular staff training 
to ensure that all staff are aware of current standards relating to their position including Staff 
Development training, Cultural Awareness training and attendance at the Annual Native Title 
Conference.  Further, regular interaction between staff and the Executive Committee ensures that 
all staff are familiar with community issues concerning CYLC’s constituents. 
 
CYLC aspires to provide a high level of service and representation to the people of Cape York.  
Consistent with this aim, CYLC has a comprehensive Feedback and Complaints Procedure.  This 
procedure gives traditional owners a means to provide feedback to CYLC and for CYLC to 
provide a transparent and accountable method for dealing with complaints and improving the 
overall service that CYLC provides. 
 
Financial Performance Analysis 
 
In September 2006, the appointment of a CFO was made, resulting in the termination of the 
position of Finance Manager, which at that time was being outsourced to an accountancy 
consulting firm, Cape York Financial Management Services Pty Ltd. 
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Financial performance for the 2006/2007 financial year amounted to a progressive deficit of 
$337,995, a decrease on the 2005/2006 financial year deficit of $429,989. 
 
On the subject of performance management, the Finance Department, headed by the CFO, have 
been providing consistent and timely reporting to the NTU with the use of Monthly Grant 
Movement Summaries.  This tool provides a measure of expenditure costed by claim against 
Operational Plan on a monthly basis.  The degree of labour cost apportionment achieved in this 
exercise has been made possible by a method of time sheet costing by activity.  Combined with 
effective cost control by adherence to strict expenditure authorisation procedures, we provide the 
means for more active management of claims by the organisation as a whole. 
 
Changes from the Prior Year 
 
The following are significant changes from the prior year: 

 
• The Native Title Act was amended.  One of the changes made was to set 

fixed terms for re-recognition of NTRB.  The maximum term now 
allowed is six years.  CYLC received a three-year term (1 July 2007 to 1 
July 2010).  After each term, CYLC will apply again to be recognised as 
an NTRB. 

 
• CYLC received an unqualified audit.  Therefore, CYLC did not receive 

an audit comment as to “Inherent uncertainty regarding continuation as a 
going concern” which reflects well on the improved situation at CYLC. 

 
Developments since the end of Financial Year 
 
Throughout 2006 and 2007, CYLC worked closely with Ross Rolfe, Director General of 
Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC), to secure the Cape York Peninsula Heritage Bill 
(CYPHB) and the associated amendments to the Wild Rivers Act 2005 (Qld), Vegetation 
Management Act 1999 (Qld) and Aboriginal Land Act 1991 (Qld). 
 
In June 2007, Ross Rolfe resigned and was replaced, in September 2007, by Ken Smith.  At the 
same time, the Hon Anna Bligh MP became the new Premier of Queensland following the 
resignation of the Hon Peter Beattie MP. 
 
CYLC will seek to establish productive relationships with the new Premier of Queensland, the 
Hon Anna Bligh MP, and the new Director-General, Ken Smith, in an effort to progress a 
number of pressing matters, including native title, CYPHB, State Land Dealings, Joint 
Management of National Park and Wild River negotiations. 
 
There have been no developments since the end of the financial year that have affected or may 
significantly affect CYLC’s operations in the future. 
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Corporate Governance 

 
The Governing Committee is responsible for governance of CYLC.  This includes the setting of 
the broad strategic direction for the organisation, as set out in the Strategic Plan 2004-2007.  The 
Strategic Plan is supported by the operational plan that details activities and associated resource 
and performance information.  The NTU produces work plans for all matters, in line with the 
operational plan.  All activities are related to an output within the outcomes and outputs 
framework. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution of CYLC, the Executive Committee (made up of eight 
members of the Governing Committee as well as the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson) has 
delegated responsibility for: 
 

• Receiving and considering reports from the CEO and other senior staff 
regarding the work of CYLC; 

• Monitoring the financial position of CYLC; 
• Deciding on allocation of resources to particular projects; 
• Being informed of changes or proposed changes to the way the CYLC 

conducts its work; 
• Dealing with complaints; and 
• Other functions as delegated from time to time. 

 
CYLC undertakes an annual performance review of all staff.  The review process links 
individual performance with the strategic and operational plan.  During the year under review 
this process saw a marked improvement in capacity for overall performance management and 
resulted in improved performance.  It has also assisted to highlight CYLC’s standing as a 
reputable employer in the field of native title. 
 
During the 2006/2007 financial year, both the current and previous members of the Executive 
Committee confirmed their commitment to the development of amended policies in line with the 
recommendations of the previous Governing Committee members and incorporating further 
amendments made by the current Committee members. 
 
Senior Management Staff and their Responsibilities 
 
CYLC has had no changes in its Senior Management Staff during the 2006/2007 financial year. 
 
Peter Callaghan, the CEO of CYLC, is responsible for the daily management of CYLC and 
oversaw the day-to-day functions of the organisation.  The CEO was responsible for personnel, 
financial and operational matters and for achieving native title outcomes.  The CEO provides 
regular reports at each Executive and Governing Committee meeting on the operations and 
details of the CYLC operating environment.  The CEO has two support staff and the Human 
Resource Officer as part of the Executive Department. 
 
Glenn Archer, the PLO of CYLC, is responsible for the effective running of the NTU.  The NTU 
consists of five separate Units - Future Acts Unit, Strategic Outcomes Unit, Claims Unit, State 
Land Dealings Unit and Yalanji Unit.  Each Unit has a Team Leader who is responsible for 
ensuring the performance of their Unit and reporting this to the PLO.  The PLO also manages the 
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staff in the two Regional offices of Cooktown and Weipa and reports the activities of these 
offices to the CEO. 
 
Keith Tooke, the CFO of CYLC, is responsible for the effective running of the Finance Unit.  
The CFO is also responsible for managing the Information Technology Resources and the 
Administration Unit at CYLC.  The Administration staff are managed by the Office Manager 
who is accountable to the CFO. 
 
The PLO and the CFO report to the CEO. 
 
Governing and Executive Committees Roles 
 
Members of the Governing and Executive Committees,  are shown below.  During 2006/2007 
financial year, the Governing Committee met twice and the Executive Committee met an 
additional seven times.  Attendance was high at all meetings demonstrating a clear commitment 
of the members of CYLC.  The current Chairperson of the Governing Committee is Mr Michael 
Ross and Ms Edna Mark is the Deputy Chairperson.  The Governing Committee Members were 
confirmed at the Annual General Meeting on 30 November 2005. 
 
Attendance by Executive Committee Members 
 
Figure 5 – Attendance by Executive Committee Members,  at Executive Committee Meetings 
from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007. 

 
MEETING DATES (ATTENDANCE – YES/NO) NAME POSITION 

14/17 AUG 06 24/25 OCT 06 13/14 DEC 06 

Michael Ross Chairperson Yes Yes Yes 
Edna Mark Deputy Chairperson Yes Yes Yes 
Fred Coleman Committee member No Yes Yes 
Doreen Jones Committee member Yes No Yes 
Jeffrey Bosuen Committee member Yes Yes Yes 
Donna Henning Committee member No Yes No 
Toby Accoom Committee member No Yes Yes 
William Busch Committee member Yes Yes Yes 
Graham Woibo Committee member Yes No Yes  
Priscilla Blanco Committee member Yes Yes Yes 
 

 
 
 
 
Pictured:  Left to Right:  Michael Ross, 
Executive Committee Member and Chairperson; 
Graham Woibo, Executive Committee Member. 
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Figure 5 continued 
 

MEETING DATES (ATTENDANCE – YES/NO) NAME POSITION 
30 JAN 06 -  
1 FEB 07 

14/15 MAR 07 12 /13 APR 07 3 MAY 07  

Michael Ross Chairperson Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Edna Mark Deputy chairperson Yes No No Yes 
Fred Coleman Committee member Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Doreen Jones Committee member Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Jeffrey Bosuen Committee member Yes No Yes No 
Donna Henning Committee member No No Yes No 
Toby Accoom Committee member Yes Yes Yes Yes 
William Busch Committee member Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Graham Woibo Committee member Yes Yes Yes No 
Priscilla Blanco Committee member Yes No Yes Yes 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Pictured:  Left to Right, Executive Committee 
Members Doreen Jones and Jeffrey Bosuen.   

Pictured:  Left to Right:  Executive Committee 
Members Donna Henning and Priscilla Blanco. 
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Attendance by Governing Committee Members 
 
Figure 6 – Attendance by Governing Committee Members at Governing Committee Meetings 
from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007. 
 
 
 

MEETING DATES (ATTENDANCE - 
YES/NO) 

COMMUNITY GOVERNING COMMITTEE 
REPRESENTATIVES 

26 OCTOBER 2006 4 MAY 2007 
Aurukun Alison Woolla 

Lyle Kawangka 
Yes 
No 

Yes 
No 

Coen 
 

Trish Claremont 
James Claremont 

No 
No 

Yes 
Yes 

Cooktown Michael Ross 
Ron Harrigan 

Yes 
No 

Yes 
Yes 

Hopevale Gerhardt Pearson 
Graham Woibo 

No 
No 

Yes 
No 

Kaiwalagal  Jeffrey Bosuen 
Tom Bowie 

Yes 
Yes 

No 
No 

Injinoo Meun Lifu 
Marcia Pablo (nee Ropeyarn) 

Yes 
No 

Yes 
Yes 

Kowanyama Priscilla Major 
Judith Brumby 

Yes 
Yes 

Yes 
Yes 

Laura Thomas George Jnr 
Fred Coleman 

Yes 
Yes 

No 
Yes 

Lockhart River Toby Accoom 
Coco Mengui 

Yes 
Yes 

Yes 
Yes 

Mapoon William Busch 
Neomi Roseblade 

Yes 
Yes 

Yes 
Yes 

Mossman Karen Gibson 
Donna Henning 

Yes 
Yes 

No 
No 

Napranum Priscilla Blanco 
Annie Bandicootcha 

Yes 
Yes 

Yes 
No 

New Mapoon Edna Mark 
Ruth Motlop 

Yes 
Yes 

Yes 
Yes 

Pormpuraaw Robert Holroyd 
Fred Tyroe 

Yes 
Yes 

Yes 
Yes 

Port Stewart 
 

Sunlight Bassini 
Chantel Liddy 

Yes 
Yes 

No 
Yes 

Umagico No representatives - - 
Wujal Wujal Doreen Jones 

Elizabeth Tayley 
Yes 
No 

Yes 
Yes 
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Training and Development of Board Members 
 
Governing Committee Members are made aware of the responsibilities that accompany their 
positions on the Board as part of the election process.  Further training and workshops are also 
part of ongoing development.  Equity Training was provided to the Executive Committee 
Members and seven members of the Executive Committee also participated in Governance 
training provided by the Office of the Registrar of Aboriginal Corporations. 
 
Corporate & Operational Planning 
 
CYLC continues to work under the 2004-2007 Strategic Plan.  During the year in review the 
relevant Operational Plan provided the means of directing work, reporting to the Governing 
Committee, measuring performance and managing finances. 
 
An Operational Plan for the following year was drawn up during the year in review and all 
project staff were involved in the drafting and its use as a guide to expenditure and to direct 
workflow towards prioritised outcomes. 
 
Risk Management 
 
The financial affairs of the CYLC come under the scrutiny of the CFO and the CEO.  Regular 
reports are provided and matters of concern are taken to the Executive Committee. 
 
The increased use of the improved financial data recording as identified at the close of the 
previous year, has been fundamental to the management of exposure as well as progress towards 
identified outcomes. 
 
The extent to which this approach has been sufficient to manage risks to date is illustrated by the 
positive outcomes in the year under review, including the removal of the Funding Controller. 
 
External audits also assist in risk management and highlight the control features in place. 
 
Close monitoring of budgets and completion of work plans, project and time sheets have assisted 
the organisation to adhere to strict budgets.  Along with close working relationships among the 
Senior Management staff and monitoring of expenditure along, with forecasts and project 
planning have meant that the CYLC received an unqualified Audit Report. 
 
The Board is kept aware of CYLC operations through regular reporting from Senior 
Management staff.  
 
Ethical Standards 
 
In addition to the CYLC Code of Conduct implemented during the previous year, employees and 
Executive Committee Members have undertaken Governance training, Equity training and 
Cross-Cultural Awareness training which formed an important part of reinforcement of high 
ethical standards.  There is a high level of awareness amongst staff of ethical issues and good 
practical application of that knowledge.  CYLC management has taken further action to increase 
awareness of these standards by placing informative material on the notice boards and common 
areas of the office.  These included Anti-Discrimination awareness posters and brochures. 
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In relation to Lawyers employed by CYLC, rules made by the Queensland Law Society under 
authority of the Legal Profession Act 2004 (Qld), which recently came into force, require all 
Lawyers to undertake compulsory professional development in ethics every second year.  
 
CYLC seeks ways to have the topic commonly arise in the workplace and to provide the 
opportunity for non-lawyer employees and the Executive Committee to attend courses.  In 
addition, Lawyers with up-to-date knowledge can provide in-house training for staff and 
Executive Committee Members. 
 
Remuneration for Senior Management 
 
CYLC negotiates Senior Management salaries on an individual basis with reference to the 
market and other NTRB pay scales as reviewed by an independent Assessor.  Prior to 
appointment, the Executive Committee and FaCSIA approve all senior management position and 
salaries. 
 
 
 
 
 
Pictured:  Cape York Peninsula. 
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Management of Human Resources 
 
The role of the Human Resources Department of CYLC, managed by Kathy Bullio, is to deliver 
effective and efficient human resource support including personnel, recruitment and selection; 
learning and development; health and safety and performance management. 
 
Since the appointment of a PLO at the end of 2005, the numbers of professional staff have 
increased considerably to seven as at 30 June 2007.  The high reputation of senior CYLC staff 
has contributed to the success of the CYLC recruitment program. 
 
CYLC has also drawn on some key former staff to broaden the pool of committed and 
experienced staff available to deliver outcomes.  In particular, this additional pool helps to 
consolidate corporate knowledge.  Through this strategy, CYLC aims to supplement the skills 
and knowledge of permanent staff.  CYLC also supported two staff in working towards a Master 
of Laws Degree. 
 
In addition to external training during 2006, CYLC provided ongoing in-house training sessions 
for administrative staff and training on new policies and the new strategic plan for all staff.  
Induction on commencement of employment and on the introduction of new equipment is 
mandatory and forms part of the training and development program. 
 
Staff Overview 
 
CYLC managed to retain all Senior Management staff and most of its Professional and 
Administrative Support Staff.  The total number of permanent employees rose slightly from 31 to 
36.  The rise was due to the high reputation of senior CYLC staff and the continued stability of 
the organisation.  CYLC employs staff with a wide range of skill levels and backgrounds.  This 
reflects its core business as a service organisation.  Seventy-two per cent (72%) of CYLC 
employees were female.  Indigenous (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island) employees made up 
thirty-one per cent (31%) of CYLC employees. 
 
Figure 5: Total Staff by Category as at 30 June 2007. 
 

 
 

 Indigenous Male Female F/time or 
P/time Total 

Year ’06 ’07 ’06 ’07 ’06 ’07 ’06 ’07 ’06 ’07 
Executive   1 1   F/T - 1 1 
Professional/ 
Managerial 

  8 7 6 7 12 F/T 
2 P/T 
 

12 F/T 
2 P/T 

14 14 

Administrative/ 
Clerical 

10 8 2 2 12 16 12 F/T
2 P/T 
 

15 F/T 
3 P/T 
 

14 18 

Field 2 2 - - 2 2 2 F/T 2 F/T 2 2 
Trainee 1 1 - - 1 1 1 F/T 1 F/T 1 1 
Total 13 11 11 10 21 26 - - 32 36 
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Recruitment and Selection 
 
CYLC recruits in accordance with the policy and procedures that are established to facilitate the 
organisation’s commitment to equal opportunity employment and to select the best possible 
candidate by using a merit-based selection process.  CYLC is committed to giving every 
potential Applicant equal opportunity to apply for positions and ensuring that all processes are 
free from discrimination. 
 
Four fixed-term positions that were considered ongoing, were converted into permanent 
positions.  CYLC recognises the importance of supporting staff to gain opportunities that will aid 
their personal and professional development and broaden their skills base.  During the 2006/2007 
financial year, CYLC filled nine vacancies through external advertisements in local and 
interstate print media. 
 
Staff Management 
 
CYLC’s performance management process is based on a defined set of core competencies that 
were created to help CYLC identify the skills needed for employees to do their jobs.  This 
approach to performance management makes it easier for CYLC to identify the performance 
standards required and to fill any competency gaps through learning and development activities.  
It ensures that CYLC have an excellent team working to achieve its objectives. 
 
During the year, CYLC reviewed its performance management system to ensure that it 
encouraged a focus on continuous learning and highlighted the importance of individual 
performance in achieving corporate outcomes. 
 
Internal Grievance Procedures 
 
CYLC is committed to fostering a harmonious and professional working environment within 
which our people are able to maintain effective working relationships and produce high-quality 
results.  Employees are provided with guidance and support in the resolution of negative 
workplace issues through comprehensive guidelines relating to internal grievances and 
workplace harassment, discrimination and victimisation.  The Human Resources Officer is also 
available to provide support to staff in relation to these issues. 
 
National Indigenous Cadetship Program (NICP)  
 
The Cadetship Program provides participants with the opportunity to work and gain experience 
in a NTRB environment whilst studying full time for an appropriate tertiary degree.  CYLC 
currently has one Cadet undertaking a Law Degree at the James Cook University. 
 
Training and Development Outcomes 
 
CYLC is committed to providing appropriate, high-quality training opportunities for its 
employees.  All employees are encouraged to identify training and development needs through 
the performance management process and the Human Resources Officer provides assistance to 
managers in facilitating and coordinating training activities for staff. 
 
During 2006/2007 financial year, the total expenditure for training and development, including 
course fees and other associated expenses, was $138,152. 
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Over the current financial year, Management has continued to encourage a learning and 
development culture within CYLC.  Among the strategies and initiatives introduced was a new 
component in performance management.  CYLC employees are now encouraged to review and 
reflect upon past learning and development activities and to identify potential needs and 
opportunities for the coming twelve months in line with our key tasks and responsibilities and 
our broader career aspirations. 
 
In addition to individual training events undertaken, several specialised programs provided our 
staff with opportunities for growth and career development.  They are:  Executive Management 
training; Chief Executive Officer’s Forum; Senior Professional Officers’ training; and Field 
Officers’ Workshop.  Providing training and development to CYLC employees enables our 
employees to be highly specialised and be able to perform their roles with a high degree of 
competency. 
 
Employee Collective Agreements 
 
The CYLC Employee Collective Agreement 2007-2009 is due for circulation to all employees 
prior to its registration with the Workplace Authority early in the new financial year. 
Management engaged with employees over an extended period during this reporting year to 
negotiate the Agreement.  Employees engaged via a committee of representatives elected by the 
majority of employees, identified as the Joint Consultative Committee.  Close consultation by the 
Committee and all employees continued during the course of the negotiation. 
 
It is expected that the final Agreement will make some substantial contribution towards 
increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of internal human resource management within the 
organisation.  The Agreement is also expected to enhance certainty of working conditions, 
clarify employee entitlements, rights and responsibilities and assist the organisation to attract and 
retain a highly motivated, appropriately skilled and dedicated workforce. 
 
Occupational Health and Safety Performance 
 
CYLC engaged the services of a Workplace Health and Safety Consultant to facilitate the 
Workplace Health and Safety standards adopted by the Corporation throughout its operations.  A 
Safety Committee was established and three employees were nominated to represent workers on 
health and safety matters at the workplace and convey any health and safety concerns to 
management.  All three employees attended the Workplace Health and Safety training for 
Representatives and Committee members. 
 
Indemnities and Insurance Premiums for Officers 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, the Corporation has not indemnified, or made a 
relevant offer to indemnify, against a liability any person who is or has been an officer or auditor 
of the Association. 
 
Association Liability insurance cover was held with QBE Insurance Limited at a total premium 
of $18,356.30.  The cover was in the amount of $10,000,000 for any one claim and in the 
aggregate inclusive of costs and expenses. 
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Contracting Practices and Purchasing 
 
Contracting Practices 
 
Consultants are engaged by CYLC to provide specific expert services and advice not otherwise 
available from among CYLC permanent staff in relation to its functions as a NTRB.  CYLC 
utilised the services of a wide range of consultants in the legal, anthropological and land 
management planning fields during the financial year.  The PLO approves the engagement of all 
consultants for native title work to ensure the appropriate level of standards are maintained, that 
the consultant’s service costs are within the budget and they represent value for money. 
 
The employment of consultants is by written Contract of Appointment, which set out the services 
to be performed, payment rates, period of employment and the rights and responsibilities of the 
consultant and copies of all contract records for each consultant engaged are fully maintained.  
Professional consultants engaged, particularly anthropologists, have particular knowledge and 
expertise in an area or in relation to a claimant group and, where this is the case, tenders are not 
called.  Each consultant’s performance is monitored by relevant Team Leaders who are 
responsible for reporting on the effectiveness of consultancies to the CEO, the PLO and the 
Executive Committee of CYLC. 
 
During the financial year, CYLC engaged 34 consultants on projects at a total value of $951,359 
compared with a total of 23 at a total cost of $656,498 in the 2005/2006 financial year.  The 
following is a breakdown of the consultants engaged. 
 

Consultants  Number of Consultants Total Paid $ 
<$30,000 22 $162,223 

 
Consultants  Number of Consultants Total Paid $ 
>$30,000 12 $789,136 

 
Total All  Number of Consultants Total Paid $ 
Consultants 34 $951,359 

 
Purchasing 
 
CYLC purchases according to the provisions of its Funding Agreement.  In particular, it applies 
the principle of value for money. 
 
CYLC purchased five new Toyota Landcruisers during the course of the year and disposed of 
three others by auction.  An off-road trailer was also added to the fleet to facilitate the easy 
transportation of meeting materials throughout the Cape.  The 2006/2007 financial year also saw 
the buy-out of all the existing operating leases for the motor vehicle  fleet and the IBM 
computers.  This was done with a view to reducing the operating costs in future years.  Various 
items of safety and navigation equipment were purchased including six recovery kits for the 
4WD vehicles, three hand-held GPS units and four hand-held Sat phones.  For purposes of 
recording evidence in the field, three digital cameras and a digital video recorder were acquired.  
A new Commander telephone system was installed to replace its ageing predecessor and both 
voice and data communications between the Florence Street Office and the field have been 
further enhanced by the addition of more next G mobiles and Telstra Turbo cards.  Back in the 
office, we have installed an A3 colour printer which in conjunction with a dedicated mapping 
computer and associated software provides the opportunity for more enhanced geographic 
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presentations and assessments.  Other items purchased during the year included a data projector 
and screen to assist with presentations and a generator to assist with field presentations. 
 
Finally, we have established a small off-site office where we have installed a Xerox scanner 
connected to a computer for the purpose of digitally recording all the material in the paper files 
we are currently using.  This exercise will provide an on-going backup in an electronic media 
format that will ensure the preservation of all the paper reference material that has been, and will 
be, accumulated since the establishment of CYLC. 
 
 
 

CYLC Events 
 
Laura Dance Festival 
 
CYLC staff were active at the Laura Dance Festival in June with picture displays of CYLC’s 
vision and goals.  The staff in attendance had access to claims information and were able to 
provide traditional owners with information on their native title claims and the native title 
process.  The stall was a great opportunity for community members to speak “face to face” with 
Project staff to ask questions and gain a better understanding of native title and land issues. 
 
Staff Development Program 
 
In March 2007, CYLC staff participated in a full Staff Development Program run by the Aurora 
Project.  The three day training program included sessions on CYLC, its history and future 
development, a native title overview, functions of NTRBs and roles in native title, the benefits 
and challenges of working in multidisciplinary and multicultural teams, cultural awareness and 
communication, stress management and conflict resolution.  Staff took part in a number of role 
plays aimed at helping them to understand the different situations in which clients seeking 
assistance may find themselves. 
 

 
 
Pictured:  Left to Right:  CYLC Future Acts Notification Officer, Elsie Ahmat and CYLC 
Cooktown Area Officer, Flo Deemal at the Staff Development Program engaged in serious 
discussion. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
 Note  $ $ 
ASSETS  
Financial assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents 5 436,178 709,810 
 Trade and other receivables 6 44,895 67,999 
 Prepayments  15,393 - 
    
  496,466 777,809 
    
Non-financial assets 
 Property, plant and equipment  7 481,990 155,619 
    
  481,990 155,619 
    
Total assets   978,456 933,428 
    
 
LIABILITIES 
Trade and other payables  
 Suppliers  8 473,159 387,712 
 Grants  8 264,721 735,482 
    
  737,880 1,123,194 
    
Loans and borrowings 
 Hire purchase  9 - 95,929 
    
Provisions  
 Employee benefits  10 113,539 84,604 
    
Total liabilities   851,419 1,303,727 
    
Net assets/(liabilities)  127,037 (370,299) 
    
 
EQUITY  
Accumulated deficit  (27,395) (524,731) 
Reserves  154,432 154,432 
    
Total equity/(deficit)  127,037 (370,299) 
    
 
 
 
Current assets 496,466 777,809 
Non-current assets  481,990 155,619 
Current liabilities  834,461 1,248,266 
Non-current liabilities  16,958 55,461 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
 Note  $ $ 
INCOME 
Revenue 
Revenue from government sources 13(a) 4,534,340 3,434,901 
Revenue from non-government sources 13(b) 483,454 374,105 
    
  5,017,794 3,809,006 
Other income 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  18,538 - 
    
  5,036,332 3,809,006 
    
 
EXPENSES 
Employee expenses 14 1,949,408 1,486,665 
Supplier expenses 14 2,499,732 2,080,344 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 14 124,266 68,768 
Write down and impairment of assets 14 2,493 116,859 
Return of grant funds  8,376 311,619 
    
    4,584,275 4,064,255 
    
Results from operating activates  452,057 (255,249) 
    
Finance income 15 47,702 30,771 
Finance expenses 15 2,423 9,236 
    
Net finance income  45,279 21,535 
    
Net surplus/(deficit) before tax  497,336 (233,714) 
Income tax expense  - - 
    
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  497,336 (233,714) 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
 Note  $ $ 
 
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 
Opening balance at 1 July  (524,731) (291,017) 
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  497,336 (233,714) 
    
Closing balance at 30 June (27,395) (524,731) 
    
 
RESERVES 
Asset revaluation reserve 
Opening balance at 1 July  154,432 171,202 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  - (16,770) 
    
Closing balance at 30 June 154,432 154,432 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
 Note  $ $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Cash receipts from services provided and grants 4,966,553 3,958,827 
Interest received  47,702 30,771 
    
  5,014,255 3,989,598 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (4,757,436) (3,812,281) 
    
Net operating cash flows 17 256,819 177,317 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (470,262) (25,587) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  38,163 - 
    
Net investing cash flows   (432,099) (25,587) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Hire purchase expenditure   (95,929) (50,041) 
Interest  (2,423) (9,236) 
    
Net financing cash flows   (98,352) (59,277) 
    
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (273,632) 92,453 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July   709,810 617,357 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June  5 436,178 709,810 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
SCHEDULE OF COMMITMENTS  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
 Note  $ $ 
 
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
Total capital commitments  - - 
    
 
OTHER COMMITMENTS 
Non-cancellable operating lease expense commitments 16 - 54,436 
    
 
Net commitments  - 54,436 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The schedule of commitments is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
1. REPORTING ENTITY  
 
Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation (“the corporation”) is an aboriginal corporation domiciled in 
Australia.   
 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
(a) Statement of compliance  
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (“AASBs”) (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”), the Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976 and the Native Title Act 
1993.  The financial report of the corporation does not comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
The financial statements were approved by the Governing Committee on the date shown on the Governing 
Committee’s Declaration. 
 
(b) Basis of measurement  
 
The financial report has been prepared on the historical cost basis except that property, plant and equipment is stated 
at its fair value.  
 
(c) Functional and presentation currency  
 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the corporation’s functional currency. 
 
(d) Use of estimates and judgements  
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.  
 
(a) Financial instruments 
 
(i) Non-derivative financial instruments 
 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and 
borrowings, and trade and other payables. 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value 
through profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative 
financial instruments are measured at amortised cost.  
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(a) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(i) Non-derivative financial instruments (continued) 
 
A financial instrument is recognised if the corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
Financial assets are derecognised if the corporation’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or if the corporation transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all 
risks and rewards of the asset.  Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e., the date that 
the corporation commits itself to purchase or sell the asset.  Financial liabilities are derecognised if the corporation’s 
obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the corporation’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.  
 
(ii) Derivative financial instruments 
 
The corporation holds no derivative financial instruments. 
 
(iii) Compound financial instruments 
 
The corporation has not issued any compound financial instruments. 
 
(b) Property, plant and equipment 
 
(i) Recognition and measurement 
 

Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost on acquisition.  Cost includes expenditures that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials 
and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, 
and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.   
 
Following initial recognition at cost, property, plant and equipment is measured on a fair value basis, being the 
amount for which the assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction, having regard to the highest and best use of the asset for which other parties would be willing to pay.  
Valuations are conducted with sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying amounts of assets do not differ 
materially from their fair values at reporting date.  The most recent valuation was carried out as at 30 June 2005.  
Assets acquired since the most recent valuation are recorded at cost as it is considered the closest approximation to 
fair value available. 
 
(ii) Subsequent costs 
 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the corporation and its cost can 
be measured reliably.  The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the 
income statement as incurred. 
 
(iii) Depreciation  
 

Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part 
of an item of property, plant and equipment.   
 
The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
 
• Plant, furniture and equipment  4 years 
• Motor vehicles  3-5 years 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 
(c) Leased assets  
 
Leases in terms of which the corporation assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases.  Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.  
 
Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised on the corporation’s balance sheet. 
 
(d) Impairment 
 
(i) Financial assets   
 

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between 
its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. 
 
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.  The remaining financial 
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 
 
All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised.  For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in the income 
statement. 
 
(ii) Non-financial assets   
 

The carrying amounts of the corporation’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.   
 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are 
independent from other assets and groups.  Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.   
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell.  As the entity is a not-for-profit entity, value in use is the depreciated replacement cost of an asset as the future 
economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and as the 
entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits.  
 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 
(e) Employee benefits  
 
(i) Defined contribution superannuation funds 
 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement when they are due. 
 
(ii) Other long-term employee benefits 
 

The corporation’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted.  The discount rate is the yield at the 
reporting date on Commonwealth Government bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the 
corporation’s obligations.  The calculation is performed using the projected unit credit method.  Any actuarial gains or 
losses are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 
 
(iii) Termination benefits 
 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the corporation is demonstrably committed, without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment before the normal retirement date.  
Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised if the corporation has made an offer encouraging 
voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated 
reliably. 
 
(iv) Short-term benefits 
 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave represent present obligations 
resulting from employees’ services provided to reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on 
remuneration wage and salary rates that the corporation expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, 
such as workers compensation insurance.  Non-accumulating non-monetary benefits, such as medical care, housing, 
cars and free or subsidised goods and services, are expensed based on the net marginal cost to the corporation as the 
benefits are taken by the employees. 
 
(f) Provisions  
 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
 
(g) Revenue  
 
(i) Goods sold  
 

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns 
and allowances.  Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to 
the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated 
reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods.  
 
(ii) Services  
 

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the 
transaction at the reporting date.  The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 
(f) Provisions (continued) 
 
(iii) Commissions 
 

When the corporation acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue 
recognised is the net amount of commission made by the corporation.  
 
(iv) Grants received  
 

Grants in respect of operating expenses (operating or revenue grants) and grants for the purchase of property, plant 
and equipment (capital grants) are accounted for, based on the nature of any attached conditions to the grants, as either 
reciprocal or non-reciprocal grants. 
 
Reciprocal grants received 
 

Grants where the corporation is obliged to repay unutilised funds or has a return obligation that implies the existence 
of a reciprocal transfer are initially brought to account as revenue in the years in which they are received.  A liability 
is recognised to the extent it is probable that the funds are likely to be returned and considering the percentage of 
completion achieved. 
 
Non-reciprocal grants received 
 

Grants where the corporation is not obliged to repay unutilised funds or does not have a return obligation that implies 
the existence of a reciprocal transfer are brought to account as revenue in the years in which they are received.   
 
(h) Lease payments 
 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 
lease. 
 
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction 
of the outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Contingent lease payments are accounted 
for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is 
confirmed. 
 
(i) Finance income and expenses 
 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested.  Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the 
effective interest method.   
 
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings.  All borrowing costs are recognised in the income 
statement using the effective interest method.  
 
(j) Income tax  
 
The corporation has been granted exemption from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1997.   
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  
 
(k) Goods and services tax  
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”).  In these circumstances, the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or part of the expense.  
 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.  
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating 
cash flows. 
 
(l) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted  
 
There are a number of standards, amendments to standards and interpretations available for early adoption at 30 June 
2007 but which have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  Although a full review of the potential 
impact on the corporation has not yet been carried out, preliminary indications are that they are not expected to have 
an impact on the financial results of the corporation as they are either not applicable to the corporation, or if 
applicable, are only concerned with disclosures. 
 
 
4. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 
 
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business 
activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 
 
The ability of the corporation to continue its operations at current levels is dependent upon future ongoing funding 
being provided by funding bodies.  The committee believes that the necessary funding will continue to be 
forthcoming. 
 
 2007 2006 
  $ $ 
5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash at bank and on hand 436,178 709,810 
    
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 436,178 709,810 
    

 
 
6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
GST receivable 23,588 2,801 
Sundry debtors 221,009 262,407 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses  (199,702) (197,209) 
    
  44,895 67,999 
    
Receivables are aged as follows: 
Overdue by 
 Less than 30 days 11,307 39,109 
 30 – 60 days - 5,445 
 More than 60 days 209,702 217,853 
    
  221,009 262,407 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 
(a) Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of property, plant and equipment 
 
  

Plant and 
equipment 

$ 

 
Motor  

vehicles 
$ 

 
 

Total 
$ 

At 1 July 2006    
Gross book value 60,887 163,500 224,387 
Accumulated depreciation (14,268) (54,500) (68,768) 
Opening net book value 46,619 109,000 155,619 
    

Additions by purchase 190,808 279,454 470,262 
Depreciation/amortisation (18,907) (105,359) (124,266) 
Disposals by sale 4,740 (24,365) (19,625) 
 

At 30 June 2007 
 

223,260 
 

258,730 
 

481,990 
    
Gross book value 251,949 384,954 636,903 
Accumulated depreciation (28,689) (126,224) (154,913) 
 

Closing net book value 
 

223,260 
 

258,730 
 

481,990 
    
 

Carrying amount under the cost model 
 

152,640 
 

258,509 
 

411,149 
    

 
(b) Assets at valuation 
 
The most recent valuation of property, plant and equipment was carried out as at 30 June 2005.  The valuation was 
conducted by a registered, independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised qualification and recent experience 
in the location and category of the property being valued.  All assets were subject to the appraisal.  Fair values were 
determined on the basis of market value.   
 
Assets acquired since the valuation have been recorded at cost as it is considered the closest approximation to fair 
value available. 
 
(c) Assets held under finance leases 
 
The corporation did not hold any assets under finance lease at 30 June 2007 (2006: nil). 
 
(d) Assets held under hire purchase arrangements 
 
The corporation did not hold any assets under hire purchase arrangements at 30 June 2007 (2006: $79,667) 
 
 2007 2006 
  $ $ 
8. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  
 
Suppliers 
 Creditors and accruals 473,159 387,712 
Grant funds unexpended, repayable or in advance 264,721 735,482 
    
   737,880 1,123,194 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
  $ $ 
9.  LOANS AND BORROWINGS 
 
Current 
Hire purchase liabilities - 60,509 
 
Non-current 
Hire purchase liabilities - 35,420 
    
  - 95,929 
    
 
 
10. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Current 
Salaries and wages accrued  24,375 27,470 
Liability for annual leave 16,958 20,041 
    
  41,333 47,511 
Non-current 
Liability for long service leave 72,206 37,093 
    
  113,539 84,604 
    
 
Number of employees 
Number of employees at the end of the year 36 31 
    
 
Defined contribution superannuation funds 
The corporation makes contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds.  The amount recognised as an 
expense was $145,115 for the year ended 30 June 2007 (2006: $114,605) 
 
 
11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Exposure to credit and interest rate risks arises in the normal course of the corporation’s business. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.  Credit 
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.  The corporation does not require 
collateral in respect of financial assets. 
 
At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The corporation’s fixed-rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in interest 
rates.  Short-term receivables and payables are not exposed to interest rate risk. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Effective interest rates and repricing analysis 
 

2007 

Average 
effective 
interest 

rate Total 
1 year   
or less 

1 to 5   
years 

More than   
5 years 

Cash and cash equivalents 4.5% 436,178 436,178 - - 
Hire purchase liabilities  - - - - 
  436,178 436,178 - - 
 
2006      
Cash and cash equivalents 4.4% 709,810 709,810 - - 
Hire purchase liabilities 7.5% 95,929 60,509 35,420 - 
  805,739 770,319 35,420 - 
 
Fair values 
 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet. 
 
 
12. RESERVES  
 
Revaluation reserve 
 
The revaluation reserve relates to property, plant and equipment measured at fair value in accordance with applicable 
Australian Accounting Standards.   
 2007 2006 
  $ $ 
13. REVENUE 
 
(a) Revenue from government sources 
Native title activities 
 Grants received – FACSIA (2006: DIMIA) 4,063,579 3,408,000 
Other activities 
 Grants received – DNRM – ATSILAB 2006 - 37,015 
 Grants received – DNRM - NNTCPBC - 68,182 
    
   4,063,579 3,513,197 
Unexpended grant balances at the beginning of the year  735,482 657,186 
Unexpended grant balances at the end of the year  (264,721) (735,482) 
    
   4,534,340 3,434,901 
    
(b) Revenue from non-government sources 
 Recoverable income 204,423 268,489 
 Fringe benefits tax refunds received   186,381 - 
 Reimbursements received – State Land Dealings  92,650 105,616 
    
  483,454 374,105 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
  $ $ 
14.  EXPENSES  
 
Employee expenses  
 Wages and salaries  1,218,027 1,014,934 
 Superannuation  145,115 114,605 
 Leave and other entitlements  173,160 146,173 
 Staff professional development 79,713 37,941 
 Salary oncosts and expenses 265,391 102,275 
 Fringe benefits tax  - 46,006 
 Other employee expenses  68,002 24,731 
    
 1,949,408 1,486,665 
    
 
Supplier expenses 
 Motor vehicle expenses  145,165 88,822 
 Rent and occupancy costs  86,726 81,106 
 Service expenses  1,441,150 1,257,100 
 Supplies  240,764 212,037 
 Travel expenses  585,927 441,279 
    
  2,499,732 2,080,344 
    
Depreciation and amortisation 
 Plant and equipment 18,907 14,268 
 Motor vehicles 105,359 54,500 
    
 124,266 68,768 
    
Write down and impairment of assets  
 Impairment of receivables 2,493 116,859 
    
 2,493 116,859 
    
 
 
15. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 
Interest income on: 
 Bank deposits 47,702 30,771 
    
Finance income 47,702 30,771 
    
 
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (2,423) (9,236) 
    
Finance expense (2,423) (9,236) 
    
Net finance income 45,279 21,535 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
  $ $ 
16. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS  
 
Hire purchase commitments 
 
Hire purchase commitments are payable as follows: 
 
Less than one year  - 65,374 
Less: Future finance charges  - (4,865) 
    
  - 60,509 
    
 
Between one and five years  - 36,358 
Less: Future finance charges  - (938) 
    
  - 35,420 
    
  - 95,929 
    
 
The corporation purchased motor vehicles under hire purchase agreements.  All hire purchase agreements were paid 
out at the end of the year. 
 
Operating lease commitments 
 
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are  
payable as follows: 
 
Less than one year - 23,844 
Between one and five years - 30,592 
    
  - 54,436 
    
 
The corporation leased a photocopier and a number of computer workstations and motor vehicles under operating 
leases.  The leases typically run for a period of three to five years, with an option to renew the lease after that date.  
All operating leases were paid out during the year.   
 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2007, $53,090 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in 
respect of operating leases (2006: $17,161). 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 2007 2006 
  $ $ 
17. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS  
 FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
 
Cash flows from operating activities 
 
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 497,336 (233,714) 
 

Adjustments for: 
 Depreciation and amortisation  124,266 68,768 
 Interest expense  2,423 9,236 
 Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment  (18,538) - 
    
Operating surplus/(deficit) before changes  
in working capital and provisions 605,487 (155,710) 
 (Increase)/decrease in receivables  23,104 200,204 
 (Increase)/decrease in other assets  (15,393) 19,766 
 Increase/(decrease) in payables  (385,314) 126,314 
 Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 28,935 (13,257) 
    
Net cash from operating activities 256,819 177,317 
    
 
 
18. RELATED PARTIES 
 
(a) Key management personnel compensation 
 
Key management personnel include governing committee members and senior executives of the corporation.  The key 
management personnel compensation included in employee expenses (Note 14) are as follows: 
 
 
Short-term employee benefits 180,569 271,041 
Other long term benefits - 22,778 
Post-employment benefits - 22,671 
Termination benefits - 35,966 
    
  180,569 352,456 
    
 
(b) Governing committee members’ remuneration 
 
The number of governing committee members of the corporation 
whose income from the corporation or any related party falls 
within the following bands: No No  
 

$0 - $14,999 32 37 
    
 

Total income paid or payable, or otherwise made available to $ $ 
all governing committee members of the corporation from the 
corporation or any related party  31,358 25,865 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
18. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Executive remuneration 
 
Total income in respect of the financial year received, or due and receivable, from the corporation or related parties 
by senior executives of the corporation did not exceed $130,000 for any one executive (2006: nil). 
 
Senior executives are the Chief Executive Officer and equivalents, Senior Executive Service and equivalent officers 
classified in groups 9 – 11 of the Public Services Classification Rules 2000. 
 
Executives’ remuneration includes wages and salaries, annual leave, performance pay, accrued superannuation, the 
cost of motor vehicles, housing and other allowances and amounts paid by the corporation during the year to 
indemnify executives, and an allocation of insurance premiums paid by the corporation or related parties in respect of 
directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses insurance contracts, in accordance with common commercial 
practice. 
 
(d) Loans to key management personnel 
 
No loans have been made to key management personnel during the year (2006: nil).  
 
(e) Other key management personnel transactions  
 
A number of key management personnel, or their related entities, hold positions in other entities that result in them 
having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities.  
 
A number of those entities transacted with the corporation in the reporting period. 
 
The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management personnel and their other related entities were no 
more favourable than those available, or might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-
key management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis.   
 
During the year the corporation entered into transactions with the following governing committee member related 
entities: 
 
Ely Bauxite Trust – William Busch is or was a director during the financial year. Edna Mark and Ruth Motlop were 
directors during the financial year. Naomi Roseblade was a trustee during the year. 
 
Ang-Gnarra Aboriginal Corporation – Fred Coleman was chairperson during the financial year. 
 
Apunipima Cape York Health Council Aboriginal Corporation – Priscilla Major was a committee member during the 
financial year. William Busch, Gerhardt Pearson and Jeffery Bosuen were committee members during the financial 
year. 
 
Balkanu Cape York Development Corporation Pty Ltd – Annie Bandicootcha and Gerhardt Pearson were directors 
during the financial year. Danny Salee and Toby Accoom were directors during the financial year. 
 
Bamanga Bubu Ngadimunku Inc – Donna Henning was a management committee member during the financial year.  
 
Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd as trustee for the Cape York Aboriginal Charitable Trust – Thomas George Jnr, Toby 
Accoom, Elizabeth Tayley and Gerhardt Pearson were directors during the financial year. 
 
Cape York Partnership Projects Pty Ltd – Karen Gibson was a director during the financial year. 
 
Coen Regional Aboriginal Corporation – Patricia Claremont was a committee member during the financial year. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
18. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(e) Other key management personnel transactions (continued) 
 
Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority – William Busch was a board member during the financial year.  
 
Gungarde Community Centre Aboriginal Corporation – Ron Harrigan was a committee member during the financial 
year. 
 
Injinoo Aboriginal Corporation – Danny Salee was a committee member during the financial year. 
 
Kaiwalagal Aboriginal Corporation – Jeffrey Bosuen was a committee member during the financial year. 
 
Kowanyama Health Action Women’s Group – Judith Brumby and Priscilla Major were committee members during 
the financial year. 
 
Lockhart River Aboriginal Council – Toby Accoom and Mengui Nomoa were councillors during the financial year. 
 
Mapoon Aboriginal Council – William Busch was a councillor during the financial year. 
 
New Mapoon Coordinating Committee – Ruth Motlop was a committee member during the financial year. 
 
Quinkan Regional Centre – Fred Coleman was a committee member during the financial year. 
 
Torres Strait Health District – Jeffery Bosuen was deputy chairperson during the financial year. 
 
WCCCA Trust – Edna Mark and Naomi Roseblade were board members during the financial year. Alison Woolla 
was a board member during the financial year. 
 
The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to governing committee members and their governing 
committee member related entities are summarised below: 
 
 Transactions during the 

financial year 
Balances at the end of the 

financial year 
2007 Income 

$ 
Expenses 

$ 
Debtors 

$ 
Creditors 

$ 
Ang-Gnarra Aboriginal Corporation - 70 - - 
Balkanu Cape York Development 
Corporation Pty Ltd 104,094 43,348 8,492 - 
Bamanga Bubu Ngadimunku Inc. - 200 - - 
Cape York Partnership Projects Pty Ltd - 65,081 - 11,000 
Coen Regional Aboriginal Corporation - 2,029 - - 
Ely Bauxite Mining Beneficiaries 
Corporation Pty Ltd * - - 137,344 - 
Gungarde Community Centre 
Aboriginal Corporation - 6,836 - - 
Lockhart River Aboriginal Council - 715 - - 
Quinkan Regional Centre - 800 - - 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 
 
 
18. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(e) Other key management personnel transactions (continued) 
 
 Transactions during the 

financial year 
Balances at the end of the 

financial year 
2006  

Income 
 

Expenses 
 

Debtors 
 

Creditors 
 $ $ $ $ 
Ang-Gnarra Aboriginal Corporation - 191 - - 
Balkanu Cape York Development 
Corporation Pty Ltd 182,140 63,214 

 
8,493 1,190 

Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd 97,372 36,364 - 35,499 
Cape York Partnership Projects Pty Ltd - 97,861 - - 
Coen Regional Aboriginal Corporation - 2,203 - - 
Ely Bauxite Mining Beneficiaries 
Corporation Pty Ltd * - - 

 
137,444 - 

Gungarde Community Centre 
Aboriginal Corporation - 4,253 

 
- - 

Lockhart River Aboriginal Council - 3,577 - - 
 
* Allowance was made in full at 30 June 2005 for an impairment loss in respect of the amount owing by Ely Bauxite 
Mining Beneficiaries Corporation Pty Ltd.   
 
During the year, the following amounts were paid to Cape York Financial Management Services Pty Ltd (“CYFMS”) 
a corporation part owned by Peter Callaghan (CEO) of the corporation. 
 2007 2006 
  $ $ 
 
Financial management services * 31,381 112,040 
CEO services 135,769 82,500 
    
  167,150 194,540 
    
 
* CYFMS was independently awarded the contract for the above services before the CEO position was taken up by 
Peter Callaghan. 
 
 
19.  AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION  
 
Audit services 
Auditors of the corporation  
 - Audit of financial report – KPMG  19,000 - 
 - Audit of financial report – Horwath  - 14,500 
 
Other services 
 Other assurance services – KPMG  25,964 9,787 
 Other assurance services – Horwath  - 6,500 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
GOVERNING COMMITTEE’S DECLARATION 
 
 
 
 
 
In the opinion of the directors of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation (“the corporation”): 
 
(a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 1 to 20 are in accordance with: 

(i) The Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976, and the Native Title Act 
1993, including: 

- giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the corporation as at 
30 June 2007 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; 

- being based on proper accounts and records and being in agreement with 
those accounts and records; and 

- complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting Interpretations); and 

 (ii) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia 

(b) the financial report does not comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in Note 2(a); 

(c)  the receipt, expenditure and the investment of money and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the 
corporation during the year have been in accordance with the Native Title Act 1993 and any grant conditions 
imposed under subsection 203 CA(1) of that Act;  

(d)  the financial report relates to the performance of the land council’s representative body functions as required 
by the Native Title Act 1993, section 203 DC(3);  

(e)  the financial report complies with the form of financial statements as required by the Native Title Act 1993, 
section 203 DC(4);  

(f)  the governing committee and the corporation have complied with the obligations imposed by the Aboriginal 
Councils and Associations Act 1976, the regulations and the rules of the corporation; and  

 (g) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the corporation will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable. 

 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 
 

 
Michael Ross 
Chairman 
 
 
Dated at Cairns this 30th day of September 2007 
 
 



 22

ABCD 
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation (“the 
corporation”), which comprises the balance sheet and schedule of commitments as at 30 June 2007 and the income 
statement, statement of changes in equity, and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes set out on pages 1 to 21.  

Committee’s responsibility for the financial report  

The governing committee of the corporation is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976.  This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.   

Auditor’s responsibility   

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
report.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  

We performed these procedures to assess whether, in all material respects, the financial report presents fairly, in 
accordance with the Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976 and Australian Accounting Standards (including 
the Australian Accounting Interpretations), a view which is consistent with our understanding of the corporation’s 
financial position and of its performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.    
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ABCD 
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 

Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion:   

(a) the financial report of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation is in accordance with:  
(i) the Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976 and the Native Title Act 1993 including: 

- presenting fairly the corporation’s financial position as at 30 June 2007 and its performance for the year 
ended on that date,  

- being based on proper accounts and records and being in agreement with those accounts and records, and  
- complying with Australian Accounting Standards; and  

(ii) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia;  
(b) the receipt, expenditure and the investment of money and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the corporation 

during the year have been in accordance with the Native Title Act 1993 and any grant conditions imposed under 
subsection 203 CA(1) of that Act; and  

(c) the governing committee and the corporation have complied with the obligations imposed by the Aboriginal 
Councils and Associations Act 1976, the regulations and the rules of the corporation.  

 

 
KPMG  
 

 
Graham Coonan  
Partner  
 
Cairns  
30 September 2007 
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